

WHITEPAPER

An electronic health economic allocator

by

Mehraj Parouty

e-HEAL protocol

Erecting a sustainable safety net whose strength increases with increasing medical necessity

April 14, 2018

Contents

Abstract	1
Executive summary e-HEAL initial products	1 2
Introduction	4
Background	6
Health economics	8
Problem of conflicting perspectives	10
Problem of unequal medical access	10
Problem of unoptimal allocation	11
Consensus algorithms	12
Proof-Of-Work	13
Proof-Of-Stake	13
Proof-Of-Work variations	14
Proof-Of-Stake variations	14
Complex problem solving	16
Solution of Rawls original position	17
Solution of equal medical access	18
Solution of optimal health allocation	19
e-HEAL as a technological facilitator	21
e-HEAL premise	22
e-HEAL technological architecture	24
e-HEAL blockchain setup	25
Performance	26
Scalability	26
Security	27
Consensus algorithm	27

e-HEAL intended decentralised OS	28
e-HEAL initial products	29
A decision making platform	30
A mobile diagnostic Dapp	30
Marketing strategy	32
Cryptocurrency market volatility	32
Mobile Dapp pricing hedge mechanism	34
Initial Coin Earning scheme	38
Financier incentives	40
Worker incentives	41
Steps up to and during crowdfunding	43
Necessary preliminary work for crowdfunding	43
Discussion	47

Abstract

e-HEAL is a collection of decentralised health technology applications, ranging from mobile diagnostic applications to statistical applications, that can execute both in parallel and in sequence in order to collectively manage a sustainable health financing fund, a safety net with an essential rule that the strength of the net increases with increasing medical necessity; thereby defining a totally decentralised and autonomous application specific health economic allocator. Governance is carried out through simple axioms of rationality by parties with a vested long term interest and is based on a transparent voting system concerning accuracy of information, importance towards e-HEAL goals, severity of a condition and others. Net income into the fund is expected mostly from life improving interventions and net outgo from the fund is expected mostly to life saving interventions. The sustainability of the fund is ensured via reserve programs.

Executive summary

Severity of the initial health state is the best documented and least controversial contextual variable [1]; with a wide body of studies indicating that people strongly prioritize treatments for patients that are seen to suffer the most [2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7]. Some studies also found that people are willing to sacrifice quality of life gains in order to give priority to the most severely ill [7, 8, 9]. Despite the fact that this "rule of rescue" [10] is also in good moral standing among philosophers [11, 12, 13], quantification has suffered from heterogeneity in study designs [14], hampering a ranking of medical interventions according to severity. And, apart from a lack of consensus on various rankings, it has been historically infeasible to allocate health optimally based on technologies of past ages.

So, we are creating e-HEAL which eases decision making based on simple axioms of rationality. On top of the e-HEAL protocol, various smart contracts and Decentralised applications (Dapps) can be built; such as a discussion platform where participants are incentivised for posting and also for voting on posts. The platform can also significantly improve medical data accessibility and security through distributed databases, known as Oracles. Data about clinical trials, for example, often the property of their sponsors, have questionable reliability [15, 16]; resulting in a commonly known "black box" pricing of medicines [17, 18, 19]. The platform can thus offer a considerable amount of trust in contrast to centrally stored data for client/server protocols where "evidence based" decisions are not always reproducible.

e-HEAL initial products

For the initial setup of e-HEAL, we will first launch a decision making platform that will be compartmentalized. The platform will consist of a discussion forum, very similar to social platforms, where any individual can contribute and be remunerated for their contributions depending on both up-votes they receive and give. So, apart from medical doctors sharing their expertise and other contributors such as pharmaceutical companies advertising their products, patients, might also share their distress through a post, for example, and receive remuneration for sharing their distress, as per the content creation business model of the discussion platform. This business model is already successfully running under the name of Steemit.com [20], a combination of facebook.com, reddit.com and medium.com, where profit is not directed towards a central party but is distributed among contributors of "posts" (or content creators). Compartments of the decision making platform might be divided so as to include contributors who have a vested interest in e-HEAL or contributors in whom e-HEAL has a vested interest. One compartment is necessary for e-HEAL governance and other compartments might include software engineering team, actuarial expert team, health economics team, research publication team, among others. Tools for the development of these compartments and other additions to the Steem protocol are largely available on steemtools.com. These tools can be implemented in the e-HEAL protocol following the mainnet release of EOS [21] decentralised operating system, expected in mid 2018.

In parallel to developing this Dapp, e-HEAL will develop a mobile app that aims to both ease diagnostics and prescriptions of medical doctors working in remote rural villages. Data, such as pictures, videos, sounds of beating hearts and others, posted to our social and content creation platform can be intelligently accessed by our mobile Dapp; free in poor rural areas. Through multi-index API for webassembly smart contracts among intelligent machines [22], the Dapp allows fast and efficient confirmations which are often scarce in remote areas. eHEAL's intended operating system, EOS [21], also aims to facilitate inter-blockchain communications; further adding to the possibilities of e-HEAL. For example, communication with DOC.ai [23], who are constructing artificially intelligent Omics¹ and communication with coinhealth.io [24] who can provide hashed verifications, would allow e-HEAL to acquire only relevant patient's information while totally disregarding other personal information and thus protecting a patient's privacy. Along with fast communications with remunerated medical doctors on our platform, this significantly reduces the risks of patients in rural areas where medical doctors are, often, short of confirmation resources. While the use of this mobile Dapp, based on country-codes, is free within low income areas, they will be marketed at competitive prices in high income areas; with a built-in hedging mechanism against e-HEAL token volatility. These profits in high income areas will constitute the initial inflow into the e-HEAL fund. e-HEAL will also initially allow hackers from high income countries and custom roms that can alter country codes, via forwarding services, to also download our mobile Dapp freely because such individuals are expected to have a relatively high need for medical confirmations and a relatively low income within their countries.

Although the concept and definition of competition is ambiguous for a decentralised organisation, the market for mobile health applications, growing at an estimated rate of 44.2% per year in the U.S.A alone (estimation by the Grand View Research team, U.S.A), represents a low competition market because, not only does block chaining significantly reduce e-HEAL costs by pruning unnecessary and inefficient chain of administrative processes through smart contracts, but also because costs of running Dapps on e-HEAL include no fees and such cost minimization is technologically infeasible for typical ERC-20 companies on the Ethereum blockchain. So, despite being transparent about our product development process, products with similar goals to e-HEAL should not impact significantly on our competitive edge for feeding our **automated charity fund** because our Dapps operate under significantly reduced costs; with parallel and sequential execution of fees-free programs.

¹Omics are biotechnologies that are concerned with biological terms ending with - omics; such as proteomics, metabolomics and others.

Introduction

As human beings, we love a long and healthy life. However, in today's technological era, severely ill children in poor rural areas, rare disease patients in highly developed countries and many other groups of individuals around the world do not have access to quality treatments; despite the constitution of the World Health Organisation (WHO), despite Article 2 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), Article 10 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the EU disability legislation, the UKs Equality Act of 2010 and UK 'tort law', along with various other laws and legislations that, all, aim to protect our fundamental right to a healthy life [25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34]. While funding of some life saving medical interventions can seldom be raised through "humanitarian aid", the international aid "business" can also not be claimed to be immuned against corruption or other central point of failures [35].

The economic allocation principle generally observed by a decision maker, mandated by a certain group of individuals, is to maximize the greatest good for the greatest number; given a resource constraint which is generally monetary [36, 37]. Needless to say that this maximization has been historically hard to implement in practice. For example, a typical health economic decision maker, in today's representative democracy, aims to maximize the total aggregate health benefit conferred given a health care budget [38, 39] because maximizing the greatest health benefit conferred for the greatest number of individuals given the said budget has been a realistic/technological impossibility. However, this historical maximization of aggregate health has been a root cause for abundent ethical and legal debates because whole groups of patients suffering from severe conditions do not have access to treatments [1, 40, 41, 42, 43]. Medicines for rare diseases or ultra rare disorders (URDs) that are severe and chronic, for example, are known for their poor performances in cost-effectiveness analyses (CEAs) which is based on the maximization of an aggregate [1, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 17, 49, 50, 66, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55].

However, blockchain technology today makes it feasible to unlock this difficulty in maximizing a population's health on an individual basis while protecting a patients privacy and personal information. And, because the maximum of a total is always at most the total of maxima from a mathematical identity known as the rearrangement inequality [56], apart from being ethically and legally defensible, the maximization of population health on an individual basis is also always economically optimum. More specifically, maximizing individual health constrained by perfect health and maximizing the number of individuals benefiting from an intervention constrained by a certain budget, a multi-variable maximization which is mathematically equivalent to a safety net whose strength decreases with decreasing individual necessity until a budget is reached, is now practically feasible through blockchain's peer-to-peer technology.

To construct this health decision making environment, we are creating an electronic health economic allocator (e-HEAL), a decentralised and autonomous organisation (DAO). The e-HEAL fund is essentially a safety fund whose strength increases with increasing medical necessity. The intent of the protocol is to harmonize decision rules within the health economic environment. e-HEAL does this by building a decentralised social voting platform and various other decentralised applications (Dapps) and smart contracts that are consistent with the e-HEAL maximization algorithm and that can execute both sequentially and in parallel. So, while bearing functional similarities to the Ethereum protocol that provides an abstract foundational layer allowing developers to write all sorts of Dapps and smart contracts [57], e-HEAL governance resembles the Dash protocol (previously known as Darkcoin) [58] whereby governance proposals are voted. Votes by the vested members of the e-HEAL community on e-HEAL daily operations and votes by any individual on ranking severity, collectively, ressembles the Steem protocol [20] where "content creators", including patients and the public at large, have a share in the decision making authority and, thus, contribute in the prioritization of the most severely ill. So, e-HEAL serves as a decentralised application specific health allocator, intended to be built on EOS [21] decentralised operating system; the only OS that currently seem to provide the capabilities of supporting e-HEAL.

Background

Universal Health Coverage (UHC) is an aspiration for most health care bodies [60, 61, 62, 63, 64]. Universal health coverage, according to the World Health Organisation (WHO) [63], means that all individuals and communities have access to promotive, preventive, curative, rehabilitative and palliative health services of sufficient quality to be effective; while not exposing the user to financial hardship. The WHO [63] mentions that UHC embodies three related objectives:

- 1. Equity in access to health services everyone who needs services should get them, not only those who can pay for them;
- 2. The quality of health services should be good enough to improve the health of those receiving services; and
- 3. People should be protected against financial-risk, ensuring that the cost of using services does not put people at risk of financial harm.

Under this aegis, severe and life threatening conditions are not an individual's own burden to bear and health and access to it are both a common good to be provided and if need be, to be protected by the community, as a whole. In Mauritius island, for example, a family insurance system, known as "sit", is not uncommon; whereby two parties contribute to a fund and when events unfold, the most favourably affected forfeits the contribution to the least favourably affected. More official health insurance and national care systems also exist globally [64, 65]. The WHO, for example, built a model to demonstrate the impact of introducing a health insurance scheme on a national health care system; originally designed to assist Viet Nam in the development of a statutory health insurance system [64]. The model of the Australian Health Insurance Commission was constructed and used to carry out financial projections regarding the Turkish health care system under a technical cooperation agreement between the two countries [64]. In the early

1980s, the model of the German Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, which at the time was still in charge of the legal supervision of the statutory health insurance systems, aimed to provide policy makers with an early warning system for financial difficulties to allow sufficient time to react by modifying revenue or expenditure provisions [64]. There are probably hundreds of distinguishable financial models for health allocation frameworks [65]. However, access to healthcare is known to be unequally distributed across the globe [12, 13, 66, 67, 68, 69].

While the three objectives of UHC are hardly questionable, and while they do seem to be observed by different decision making bodies, the order in which the objectives are prioritized have varied significantly among health ministries and social insurance programs [64, 65]. Along with different ways to include uncertainty and along with different methods through which different factors enter the health allocation models, sustainable financing remains an issue with disparities in hospital bed supplies across different geographical locations [67]. In May 2005, the World Health Assembly (WHA) Resolution 58:33 [70], on Sustainable Health Financing, Universal Health Coverage and Social Insurance urged Member States to:

- ensure that health financing systems include a method for prepayment of financial contributions for health care, with a view to sharing risk among the population and avoiding catastrophic health care expenditure and impoverishment of individuals as a result of seeking care;
- ensure that external funds for specific health programmes or activities are managed and organized in a way that contributes to the development of sustainable financing mechanisms for the health system as a whole;
- 3. plan the transition to universal coverage of their citizens so as to contribute to meeting the needs of the population for health care and improving its quality, to those contained in the United Nations Millennium Declaration, and to achieving health for all.

While all democratic environments have their pros and cons [71], the health care decision making environment is a typical representative democracy. However, decision makers, representing a group of individuals, can have different priorities in conducting a value for money

(VFM) analysis because value is subjective and dependent on perspectives [72, 73]. Maximizing the total aggregate health benefit conferred or observing the various laws that aim to ensure a fundamental right to life to all, equally are priorities that are dependent on perspectives.

Health economics

A value-for-money (VFM) analysis is the typical method that an individual uses to decide upon the purchase of a certain commodity. This VFM principle has various synonyms that are primarily dependent on various definitions and types of value; such as a cost-effectiveness analvsis (CEA) for the economic evaluation of health interventions. In the market for health interventions, a decision maker, mandated by society or a group of individuals, aims to find the intervention with optimum VFM. To do so, the efficacy of the intervention is established through clinical trials which can have different goals; such as, for example, the number of people that a certain technology or medication cured from a socially dislikeable health state or the number of days spent without symptoms and so forth and so on [74]. Statistical methods in clinical study designs ensure that claims about efficacy are scientifically valid with a certain percentage of confidence [75]. So, the decision maker ensures, with a reasonable amount of confidence, "that the value of what is being gained from an activity outweighs the value of what is *being sacrificed*" [76] by maximizing a measure of the total aggregate health benefit conferred given a resource constraint which is typically monetary [38, 77, 78].

However, because 'value' and 'money' have different metrics, an agreeable measure of the net 'value' of a health intervention fails to exist. While costs are measurable in a straight forward manner, valuing health outcomes has been subject to much debate [79, 80, 81]. A "willingness to pay" measure of 'value', as discussed in Pardalod et al [82], has been unpopular among health policy makers [1, 75] because of the widespread view that basic necessities should be distributed less unequally than the ability to pay for them [83]; although "willingness to pay" and "ability to pay" are different metrics. In applied health economics, for example, health outcomes are usually considered to be the relevant benefit from an intervention [84]. While Torrance [85] mentioned a consensus in literature that a generic measure for value in a CEA is both quantity and quality of life; measured by the qualityadjusted-life-year (QALY), the limitations of the QALY have also been widely discussed in literature [86, 87, 88, 89]. Normand [87] and Sassi [88], among others, provide a discussion about the controversies and limitations while McGregor [86] cautions against the use of the QALY as a direct comparison of its unit cost. Regardless of the divergences in opinions, use of the QALY is widely gaining consensus [44, 45, 75, 88, 89, 90, 91].

The CEA of a novel technology is usually calibrated by a measure of cost-per-QALY [92] which primarily serves to select the best value for money spent on health interventions. Medical interventions can, thus, be ranked based on their incremental cost per effectiveness gained [93]. Given limited resources, a maximum allowable cost-per-QALY also seems necessary [38, 75, 77, 94, 95, 96]. In the United Kingdom (UK), for example, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), recommends that incremental cost should not be exceeding \pounds 20,000 to \pounds 30,000 per QALY [97, 98, 99]. This benchmark or threshold, with a specified maximum allowable cost-per QALY, arises from a maximization problem [100, 101] such that "for every given level of resources available, society (or the decision-making jurisdiction involved), wishes to maximize the total aggregate health benefit conferred" [38].

However, Drummond et al [44] remarked a deviation between costeffectiveness and social value; as apparent from the low societal value of the cost-effective removal of tattoos. Schlander et al. also emphasized that, while removal of tattoos would meet the benchmark for cost-effectiveness, interventions near the end of life or for severe comorbidities would not meet the benchmark [102, 103]. This is because "*QALYs are equity-neutral*" [85]. Medicines for rare diseases or ultra rare disorders (URDs) that are severe and chronic, for example, are known for their poor performances in CEAs [1, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 17, 66]. In response to this, treatments that are often deemed cost-ineffective, while potentially treating severe conditions are considered as exceptions, within a unique institutional framework [104, 105, 68].

While the logic of a CEA appears to be in accordance with the logic of VFM, a definition of 'value' has lacked consensus [72, 73]. In contrast to the current optimization of "*total aggregate health benefit conferred*" [38] yielding an "*all-or-nothing*" [1] access to treatment, various stud-

ies [40, 42, 106] have found a consistent willingness to trade some efficiency for equity in access. Drummond et al [44] argue that there is more to assessing the social value of health technologies than incremental cost effectiveness ratios (ICERs). George et al [107] also emphasize that equity cannot be disregarded when assessing medicines for rare diseases. This indicates that decision makers can have multiple and potentially conflicting objectives in the allocation problem [1, 92, 108, 109]. However, using different approaches for evaluating health interventions would violate key consistency and generalizability arguments [45, 89, 110, 111, 112].

Problem of conflicting perspectives

Different perspectives that a decision maker, mandated by society or a group, could take have also largely been considered; especially perspectives that aim to harmonize a definition of value [1, 66, 72, 73]. Perspectives within the health care decision making environment vary significantly; ranging from individual to societal and from commercial to sharing and etcetera [1]. Different perspectives of a mandated decision maker imply that reimbursement decisions vary significantly across different decision making bodies; such as, for example, between the Netherlands and Scotland [113]. Because equal access to health is generally accepted to be a common good [63], attempts to integrate equity in health economic evaluations have largely been discussed; with the means of integrating equality in access also varying differently [114]. Drummond [45] for example discussed the integration of social value into the technology assessment process. These differences in perspectives are further convoluted with differences in definitions and nomenclature [115, 116, 117, 118, 119]. Apart from different definitions of value of health leading to different health outcomes such as quality-adjusted life year, healthy-year equivalents or capability-adjusted life year [115, 116, 117], efficacy, for example is defined differently in medicine and in pharmacology [118, 119]. So, needless to say that the representative democracy with a mandated decision maker for health economic allocations have spurred much debate within the health allocation environment.

Problem of unequal medical access

In the prevailing health allocation methodology, lack of equity in access to treatments among patients suffering from severe and chronic

conditions is a major concern [1, 45]. In the United Kingdom (UK), for example, the factors that are considered in a VFM by the Department For International Development are economy, effectiveness and efficiency (see www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-forinternational-development) while the factors considered by the Independent Commission for Aid Impact (see icai.independent.gov.uk) are economy, effectiveness, efficiency and also, equity. In health technology assessments, economy, effectiveness, efficiency and also equity are argued to form part of the VFM assessment [45, 47, 48, 53, 55, 91, 120, 121, 122]. However, the cost-per-QALY for medicines for rare diseases, for example, is known for being well in excess of cost-effectiveness thresholds despite the severity of their conditions [1, 45, 66, 104] and severity is the least controversial contextual variable in health economic evaluations [14, 123]. Nord and Johansen [14], for example, reviewed evidence from 15 articles published in peer reviewed journals in the time period 1978-2010 and found that concerns for severity strongly show up across countries. Nord et al [123], in an Australian survey comprising of 551 participants, also, found that severity of illness is a key deciding factor for an intervention, regardless if fewer patients could be saved due to the high costs and limited resources. However, Barratt mentions the challenges of getting both evidences and establishing societal preferences in evidence-based medicine [124] which largely involve, but are not limited to, variations in study designs [1].

Problem of unoptimal health allocation

While there hardly seems any morally defensible reason to favour one group of patients over another group when both groups include patients with similar personal characteristics, similar prognosis without treatment and similar capacity to benefit from treatment, higher cost of treatment for one group compared to the other group under a given budget constraint implies that the real choice is between treating more patients compared to fewer patients [125]. This implies that treatments for rare diseases that cost much more than other common treatments and treatments for poor countries that have a lower budget than rich ones are not health economically good options. Rare diseases, for example, result in a higher annual cost per patient compared to a common disease [125] and, in some cases, the annual cost per patient of rare diseases exceeds \in 100,000 [66]. With an estimated average out-of-pocket cost of \$1.395 billion (2013 dollars) per approved new compound [126], these costs

are hard to be recouped both from poor countries and from patients with rare diseases due to the high fixed/low variable cost structure of the pharmaceutical industry [45, 47, 48, 53, 55, 120, 121, 122]. However, such high pricing of medicines has also been argued to be a Black Box and whether the price of a medication is justified or not is an ongoing debate between industry and payers with no transparency at all and therefore, no consensus [17, 18, 19].

Consensus algorithms

The modern treatment of intransparency through formal methodologies probably originated with the statistical methods of Al-Kindi to decypher coded messages [127]. In 1982, Lamport et al [128] described the typical problem of blackboxes with an analogy to the Byzantine army [128]. A group of army generals have to come to a consensus about launching an attack on an enemy or retreating from the enemy line. Some of the army generals would like an attack while others would rather retreat, and, among the generals are also honest and dishonest ones. Moreover, in the polar world that the generals lived in, with only yes/no possibilities, the messengers communicating to and from the generals were sometimes successful and sometimes unsuccessful in delivering their messages, and so forth and so on. The goal in this problem is not about whether to attack or to retreat; regardless of the decision, the goal is to optimize informational consensus, known as the "Byzantine fault tolerance".

For this optimization, a proof of work or a proof of stake generally serves to provide either incentives to propagate "honest messages" or disincentives to propagate "dishonest messages", respectively. Today, solutions to the Byzantine generals problem are not only numerous but are also automated because computerised systems are highly effective at executing yes/no commands, with agreed rules encoded in a protocol. These are widely used in blockchain based interactions which are essentially a set of coded rules to which two parties agree to; allowing a network of interactions to exist. All interactions are then placed inside a block which is a potential candidate to be chained to previous blocks if it correctly expresses the execution of agreed rules or otherwise it is not chained [129]. Using one of the many different existing consensus algorithms, one block and only one block is chained to other previously chained blocks.

Proof-Of-Work

For the Bitcoin network, excluding the genesis block, two main rules prevail: one cannot spend more than one has and one cannot receive less than one require [130]. Peer-to-peer "transactions" are placed into blocks that contain a header, a time stamp, the list of transactions, the hash² of the previous block, and etcetera. Importantly, an arbitrary number, called a **nonce**, is also present in candidate blocks to be chained. And, because two candidate blocks with exactly the same transactions but with different nonces will have different hashes, block chainers enter into a computational competition bruteforcing³ the nonce of candidate blocks to first reach a specific target so as to be rightful block chainer. After proving computational energy spent, the block is then broadcasted to the network. All other block chainers then verify the incoming broadcast which is computationally easy compared to the bruteforcing computations. The broadcaster achieving consensus first gets the right to chain the block. And, block chainers under this "proof of computational work" are often called miners because, as a reward for computational energy spent, newly created coins are offered as a reward to the winning miner. These can, however, only be spent after a specified number of blocks have been further chained; confirming the chainer's honesty in doing the computational work within the chain with the most difficulty.

Proof-Of-Stake

Proof of work is also used by other blockchains, such as Ethereum [57]. While Ethereum currently uses proof-of-work, it is, however, switching to a proof of stake protocol whereby it is not computational power that serves as investment, but Ether, the built-in cryptocurrency, serves as proof of stake. The built-in fuel of the Ethereum protocol are staked offering stakeholders a proportional possibility of chaining [129, 131]. This serves as disincentives to cheat the network because Ether cryot-pcurrency is staked by a validator for a proportional chance to chain a

²A hash can be viewed as a digital signature or a fingerprint. The Bitcoin protocol uses SHA256 for hashing purposes. A word has a unique hash and a whole library of dictionaries also has a unique hash.

³Bruteforce is a penetration mechanism whereby a target is sought by repeatedly plugging in candidate targets. Offensive security's Kali Linux, for example (available for download at www.kali.org), offers target-specific password dictionary compilers and brute force applications that repeatedly plug in different passwords from the dictionary to unlock a certain password-protected account.

block. However, proof of stake has been argued to follow Karl Marx' Law of increasing poverty [132] with the catch phrase "the rich get richer and the poor get poorer" because the more stake one has, the more is one's expected block chaining rewards.

Proof-Of-Work variations

Other blockchain protocols also exist [58, 133, 134]. Dash [58], for example, uses both miners and stakeholders in its crytocurrency to secure its blockchain and govern its operations, respectively. Dash offers services, such as Instant-send or Private-send, that operate at the protocol level. To do so, Dash uses a **masternode** reward program [133]. Essentially, block chaining reward are allocated in the ratio 9: 9: 2 to miners, masternodes and treasury. Some of the masternodes are randomly selected through a masternode election algorithm to offer the services operating at the protocol level. Masternodes also vote on hashed proposals concerning treasury fund allocations; with decisions that receive 10% more positive votes than negative ones being executed depending on fund availability. These include funding of advertisements, of educational videos, of conferences, among others. So, it is possible to have quite some subjective consensus within a totally decentralised and autonomous organisation via votes.

Rootstock protocol, on the other hand, leverages from the security of the Bitcoin network through a 2-way peg protocol [134]. Rootstock offers programmable Bitcoins that are turing complete, offering the possibility for Dapps to exist via a chain pegged to the Bitcoin chain. Bitcoins are essentially locked on the Bitcoin network and released as Smart Bitcoins (SBTC) on the Rootstock network. Backward compatibility with Ethereum also implies that Dapps running on Ethereum network runs as well on the pegged network. Consensus, in the case of Rootstock is however very interesting. Rootstock consensus is achieved through **merged mining**. That is, two blocks, Bitcoins and Smart Bitcoins, are simultaneously mined for block chaining purposes, with incentives for Bitcoin miners to mine another cryptocurrency.

Proof-Of-Stake variations

In **Delegated-Proof-Of-Stake**, on the other hand, stakeholders do not, themselves, chain candidate blocks to the blockchain but delegate this

task to other network participants [135, 20, 21]. In this case, the 51% attack is mitigated by stakeholders delegating the block chaining reward to parties that adhere to some selection rules; rather than allowing a free block chaining market (mining market) where chaining cartels undermine the blockchain's integrity. This also prevents the "poor from getting poorer".

In steemit.com, for example, stakeholder votes on block chainers are weighted in proportion to vested interest [20]. And block production is done in rounds and in each round 21 blobk-chainers (named as witnesses in steemit.com) are selected to create and sign blocks of transactions. The 21 active "witnesses" are shuffled every round to prevent any one witness from constantly ignoring blocks produced by the same witness placed before and any witness who misses a block and hasn't contributed to chaining in the last 24 hours is disabled until he/she updates his/her block signing key. Other algorithms can also allow for more variables to account as "stakes". Depending on the variables, these give rise to **proof-of-activity** [136] where online maintenance of full nodes account as stakes or **proof-of-importance** [137] with an importance score.

Complex problem solving

Within the framework of the Byzantine generals problem, an important variable, with two mutually exclusive possibilities, that e-HEAL aims to consider is that an unknown number of the generals are abled while others are disabled from wounds so that both decisions, to attack or to retreat, are not executable; except with an agreement for an intervention, whence both are equally feasible. This is not an additional option, apart from attacking or retreating, to stay; but rather, this aims to order the priorities of the generals, by sequentially answering polar questions so as to achieve consensus about an attack or a retreat. In a VFM analysis of a health intervention, numerous factors are deemed important, with differing degrees. A VFM involves numerous variables with numerous administrative steps that aim for multiple goals that are sometimes imprecise and/or intransparent. So, the problem of achieving consensus in a VFM approach for health interventions is a complex problem characterized by (a) the complexity of the situation which is traditionally defined based on the number of variables in a given system, (b) the degree of connectivity among the involved variables, (c) the dynamics of the situation, (d) intransparency or opaqueness, and (e) polytely [138, 139, 140]; where the word polytely comes from Greek words poly telos, meaning many goals [141].

To solve complex problems with a given number of multiple goals and constraints, Bellman and Zadeh [142] proposed the determination of an essential goal which is the intersection of the given goals [...] and the given constraints. In contrast to this essential goal [142], Zimmerman and Zysno [143] considered an overall goal which is the union of multiple goals; i.e. the sum of the weighted contribution of the multiple goals [144]. Zadeh [145] mentioned that the choice of the operator used, intersection or union, depends on whether the goals are dependent or independent. So, with dependencies of goals being grouped and formulated, the overall goal can be unfolded into its constituent multiple

goals.

However, because of intransparency within the health economic allocation environment, other issues arise. Because the goals within the healthcare decision making environment are not precisely stated, they are fuzzy. A fuzzy set is a set with no sharp boundary [146]. It is a group of objects in which there is no sharp distinction between those objects that belong to the group and those that do not [146]. So, fuzzy goals imply that the distinction between goals and constraints no longer applies [147]. Moreover, priorities are also often fuzzy within the healthcare decision making environment where fuzzy priorities are linguistic variables, such as "very important" and "moderately important", so that the boundary that distinguishes where "moderately" ends and where "very" begins is unclear [147]. In order to achieve consensus in the health economic allocation environment, it is first necessary that all parties work with similar definitions to eliminate fuzziness, followed secondly by the elimination of contradictory goals to list all goals that can co-exist and followed lastly by the careful selection of which operators, intersection or union, to use in order to define an essential goal coexisting with an overall goal.

Solution of Rawls original position

With all peers communicating with a consensus dictionary, one perspective has been proposed by Rawls in his theory of justice whereby the principles of justice are laid behind a veil of ignorance so that one individual does not know in advance who one is [148]. When an individual is unaware, in advance, who one is, then one first desires safety against the worst possibilities such as suffering the full consequences of severe and chronic conditions without access to treatments. With a flow of information from ignorance, so that the strength of the safety net decreases with decreasing severity, the Rawlsian oriented society also offers a reward system that enables competition [148]. This is also in line with economic axioms of rational choice, such as those of Von Neumann-Morgenstern [149]. These axioms provide consistency among preferences. For example, eyes to see a tattoo, are axiomatically more preferred than, say, the removal of the tattoo because the one is needed for the other to be of any value. After being guaranteed safety from the worst conditions, and only after being guaranteed this safety, individuals could compete in increasing their monetary profits. This is also the case for pharmaceutical manufacturers who would compete with each other only after they are all ensured safety from the most severe and chronic conditions. This naturally gives rise to some rules that a manufacturer would impose onto oneself so that all manufacturers would compete only after fair policies have been established.

A practice known as disease stratification, which allows manufacturers to create artificial subsets of a common disease comprising of several sub-diseases, would for example not be observed [150]. That is, while all manufacturers aim to operate optimally, a manufacturer who, for example, is stratifying a common disease into rare diseases to increase profits would be observing inconsistent rules compared to optimal ones that arise from arguments in game theory [149, 151]. This is because, although the stratification of a common disease into rare diseases increases profit of a manufacturer, it decreases the safety of that same manufacturer from suffering the full consequences of an actual rare condition. So, a Rawlsian oriented society ensures that various laws, such as European Law in European regulation (EC) 141/2000 which states that patients suffering from rare conditions should be entitled to the same quality of treatment as other patients [26], for example, are prioritized above competition laws that theoretically allow disease stratification.

Solution of equal medical access

While QALYs are equity neutral [85], the more severe the condition, the more one would expect protection by a safety net from the perspective of a peer who is blinded by a veil of ignorance. Schlander et al. also noted that severity of the initial health state is the best documented and least controversial contextual variable [1]. Various studies indicate that people strongly prioritize treatments for patients that are seen to suffer the most [2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7]. Some studies have also found that people are willing to sacrifice quality of life gains in order to give priority to the most severely ill [7, 8, 9].

Jonsen [10] coined the peremptory rescue of people from identifiable and avoidable death as the rule of rescue which also seems in good moral standing among philosophers [11, 12, 13]. So, the method of grouping for homogeneity by Bellman and Zadeh [142] does seem to indicate that severity is central in health economic evaluations. Morel and Cano [152], also, discuss the development of Patient-Centred Outcomes Measures (PCOMs); which are quantifiable metrics of value from the patients perspective and also discuss the centrality or intersection of this value for multi-stakeholders that are less severely affected. So, equity in health implies that health is distributed equally to all, but most where it is most needed; that is, most to the most severely affected and least to the least severely affected; at the detriment of individuals wishing for the removal of their tattoos who could, however, finance such endeavours from their own pockets.

Solution of optimal health allocation

The historical health economic allocation framework has been unable to allocate health on an individual basis of need because of lack of technological systems. The historical approach has generally been to maximize an aggregate; more specifically the decision maker generally aims to maximize the total aggregate health benefit conferred under a budgetary constraint. However, this entails several questionable assumptions such as, for example, the underlying assumption that social value is a linear function of health state and life year [153]. So, the maximum of the total aggregate health benefit conferred [38], is also a questionable optimum. From the rearrangement inequality [56], the maximum of an aggregate is always at most the aggregate of maxima. And, this inequality is also true for totals. So, it follows that the maximum of the total aggregate health benefit conferred is always less than or equal to the total of the maximum aggregate health benefit conferred and that is, in turn, less than or equal to, the total aggregate of maxima of health benefits conferred to individuals. Given that the more severely ill might be in more need of a QALY [154] and given the creation of exceptions for entire groups of patients [68, 125, 155], then historical optimization is definitely not optimal. The optimal approach, from the rearrangement inequality, is to maximize health benefit conferred to an individual tax payer or health insurance premium payer, constrained by a perfect health, and to maximize the number of individual tax payers benefiting, constrained by a given budget; observing a multi-variable maximization.

Although this maximization might be argued to be difficult to implement in practice, it is, already, successfully implemented using business models of safety funds such as insurance models [156, 157, 158].

Spence and Zeckhauzer [156] mention that the purpose of a safety fund is to protect individuals from suffering the full consequences of those actions on the part of nature which affect them unfavorably. In the Netherlands, for example, while the government is responsible for health-care, health insurers are responsible for its management [159]. Although equity is not the business of insurers, the core of their strategic business allows a practical maximization of the greatest good for the greatest number so that allocation is equitable and, also, always optimal if the strength of the safety fund increases with increasing severity. This implies that the two examples mentioned in the subsection about the problem of unoptimal health allocation, namely treatments for rare diseases that cost much more than other common treatments and treatments for patients in poor countries that have a lower budget than rich ones, are economically good options because the purpose of a safety fund is to spread the risk [157, 158]. So, increasing the spread of the risk sharers, allow taxes or premiums to remain fairly stationary. Dutch physicians, for example, called for a European-wide cost-effectiveness evaluation of high cost medicines for rare diseases; compared to a nationwide evaluation [51]. WHA reports [160, 161, 162], for example, have also promoted UHC to spread the risk of catastrophic expenditures for illness, through increasing prepayments and pooling financing systems [163].

e-HEAL as a technological facilitator

The e-HEAL safety net is a fund that intakes increasing profit margins from interventions that address decreasing medical need and outgoes free financing for health interventions that are of increasing medical need; while ensuring that the income/outgo service is a sustainably continued service.

So, through this pricing algorithm, e-HEAL observes equality in the distribution of health because healthy individuals do not need interventions, per se. And, financing of a removal of tattoo, for example, is an individual choice that is payable from the individual's own pocket. Also, in line with the recommendation of the WHA reports [70, 160, 161, 162], e-HEAL adheres to the sustainable financing criteria mentioned in chapter 7 of the International Labour Organisation 1999 publication [65]. These require that the e-HEAL programme income is continuously greater than or equal outgoes and operating expenditures; where programme income is composed mainly of premiums, contributions and profit from health goods and services, outgoing expenditures are composed of free health goods and services and operating expenses are composed of platform maintenance, rewards to medical doctors, actuarial experts, e-HEAL block chainers, among others. In short, this simply means that, as time progresses, inputs are continuously greater than or equal to outputs with transparent roll-over reserves.

In mathematical notation, defining a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) on which, firstly, a stochastic process, A, representing the difference between an income payment function and an outgo payment function that are both non-decreasing, finite-valued, and right-continuous, specifies the total amount A(t) paid in $[0, t] \forall t \ge 0$ and, secondly, a discount function, u is defined, so that they are adapted to a right-continuous filtration $\mathbf{F} = \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, where each \mathcal{F}_t comprise the events that govern the development of payments and interest up to and including time t, then sustainability of the e-HEAL fund simply requires that $U \geq 0$ [59]; where

$$U = \int u dA \tag{1}$$

Equation 1 also serves as a premise for commonly used Hattendorff theorem [171, 167, 168, 169, 170].

e-HEAL premise

While the sustainability of e-HEAL fund is maintained using a pricing algorithm for medical products by ranking the severity of the conditions they address with quantifiable and voted measures, the latter is complex because medical need, diagnosis, prevalence and recovery lack evidential standards and because income levels follow some distributional function that tend to have discrete jumps contingent on imaginary geographical boundaries. The Organisation for Economic Co-orperation and Development also remarks that all countries have their respective poverty lines [164], with the international poverty line estimated in 2015 by the World Bank to be \$1.9 based on the international equivalent of what \$1.90 could buy in the US in 2011 [165]. So, fair distribution cannot consider solely products and disregard individual patients [166].

However, the following premise will serve as the e-HEAL essential decision making environment. Although this premise is employed under various simplifying assumptions, it allows all types of additional complexities to be be included under realistically occurring scenarios. The premise considers 100 individuals stranded on an un-inhabited island; with each individual having different medical needs and different income (possibly payable in terms of rare sea shells that were found when their boat capsized and that are agreed by all as a means of exchange for coconut water, fruits, herbal medicines and etcetera). So, the individuals can be ranked according to the degree of their medical need and their income level. Under this premise, realistic scenarios can be formulated. For example, the 100 individuals might be a delegation representing a country.

On the island, however, the individuals agree that health is a common good. And because individuals with the most medical need are often least able to work in order to earn sea shells, the individuals agree to build a safety fund whose strength increases with increasing medical need. This is the premise of the e-HEAL project. The figure below illustrates the basic financial functioning of the e-HEAL fund in a further simplified scenario of 10 individuals who either earn income above a poverty line or below it. Green arrows represent net inflow into the fund, red arrows represent net outflow and no arrows are shown for a net flow of approximately zero.



So, more income into the e-HEAL fund is expected from higher income earners and more outgo from the e-HEAL fund is expected to the most severely affected through decreased pricing of medical interventions with increasing medical need. Consequently, the **net** inflow into the e-HEAL fund is expected from life improving interventions and a **net** outflow from the e-HEAL fund is expected from life saving interventions.

e-HEAL technological architecture

Information required by a typical health economic decision maker for informed decision making are numerous. Fortunately, technologies that allow efficient informational dissemination are also numerous ranging from validated measuring instruments for measuring recovery of patients [45, 66] to statistical applications for estimating confidence intervals [172]. Further aiding the transfer of this information are internet protocols and wireless technologies. More recently, blockchain technology has allowed for disparate applications, that serve conflicting and concording purposes alike, to build onto a single blockchain [57]. This is made possible because the rules defined by the protocol will always be in agreement among all nodes since the protocol is deterministic and carefully designed. So, e-HEAL will have to be architectured in such a way that Dapps and smart contracts that serve numerous goals are in concurrence among each other so that their summative contributions to the essential e-HEAL goal to erect a sustainable safety net whose strength increases with increasing medical necessity is optimal via just-in-time compilation.

In order to allow for Dapps that have different purposes to be implemented via community vote, e-HEAL will need to adhere to the six primitives for Turing completeness [173]. While languages that allow for this compatibility are numerous, some are better designed for some purposes than others. Solidity [174] language, for example, designed by the Ethereum core development team [57] is a contract oriented programming language based on **state transitions**. However, in contrast to Ethereum offering services to developers, e-HEAL cannot charge transaction fees to developers because e-HEAL requires their services in order to, in turn, offer services to patients and the public at large. Because of the difference in business model, e-heal will therefore need to pay developers rather than earn payments from them. Moreover, "messages", commonly defined as "transactions" in Bitcoin, should be controlled by messenger codes to identify:

- 1. the contribution of the application's objective to the e-HEAL objective
- 2. the priority of the objective

e-HEAL "messengers" should therefore be coded into identifiable and nested groups, via community votes on proposals, in order to allow each account to define a mapping between a messenger group of an account to a permission level. In a nutshell, e-HEAL should be a set of arbitrary state transition functions [57, 134, 21], with no transaction fees for program execution [21] organised via autonomous executions and/or subjective votes with remunerated participants [20].

e-HEAL blockchain setup

Challenges within blockchain based organisations generally relate to performance, scalability and security; inclusive of consensus algorithm. Performance generally concerns throughput and latency where throughput is the amount of data that a blockchain can deliver to a client and latency is the time it takes for one account to send a message to another account and then receive a response. Scalability concerns how many transactions can be processed on a blockchain in a given time. It is often measured in transactions per second (tx/s=V). Bitcoin, for example, can only process 5 to 7 tx/s in contrast to Visa that can process 2000 tx/s [175]. Security generally refers to rules that are breached; whether the rules are implicit or explicit. A 51% attack or a breach of privacy or a mishandling of payments or a bug is common in the ecosystem. **Consensus algorithm** generally refers to how the Byzantine general's problem is addressed [128] because a blockchain is only as secure as its consensus protocol [129]. e-HEAL will therefore require the following blockchain characteristics:

- 1. Because bugs inevitably occur, e-heal platform should be robust enough to allow updates; not just through hard forks.
- 2. Latency should also be minimized and delays should not exceed the orders of few seconds upon initial testnet release.

- 3. The platform should also ensure security to its clients such as a patients privacy right and should be scalable to accommodate millions of transactions per day.
- 4. Fees for Dapp executions should be minimized or inexistent.

Performance

Dapps running on the e-HEAL platform would often require inputs that are outputs from other Dapps that serve different goals because some decision making processes can only be made in steps. For example, a piece of mobile diagnostic data, from another blockchain, DOC.ai [23], for example, might be automatically input in a statistical Dapp on the e-HEAL platform for confidence interval purposes. So, e-HEAL requires the ability for sequential processing. On the other hand, some of the workload is more efficiently carried out in parallel through a spread across multiple processing units. So, parallel processing should also be feasible. With both sequential and parallel computational possibilities, a separate compartmental permission management, separate from business logic of the application, becomes vital. Permission verification however adds a significant percentage of the computation required to validate transactions. In order to reduce this additional computation, permission evaluation can be made "read-only" and a trivially parallelizable process [21]. So, changes to permissions do not execute until the end of a block, which means that all keys and permission evaluation are executed in parallel in order to enable two accounts to exchange messages back and forth within a single block without having to wait for the chaining of a block [21]. So, an **onion-structured block** will improve the e-HEAL performance. In EOS, our intended OS, blocks are effectively divided into cycles that are, in turn, divided into threads that contain a list of transactions where each transaction, in turn, contains a set of messages to be delivered.

Scalability

The different applications that e-HEAL aims to offer implies millions of transactions per day. This necessitates considerable scaling which, in turns, necessitates that components are modular. Dash [58] for example offers its services through masternodes that are elected via an algorithm so that everyone should not have to run everything, especially if they only need to use a small subset of the applications. So, an

applications state in e-HEAL protocol should be entirely derived from the messages that are delivered to it, allowing any full node to pick a subset of applications to run while safely ignoring others. This implies that the totality of state communication among accounts must be passed via messages included in the blockchain because the state of all accounts is not necessarily accessible on the same machine [21].

Security

Apart from a patients safety when exposed to novel drugs, whereby stopping rules have to be drafted for patients failing to respond to a certain medication [45], time based security is also critical within a blockchain organisation [21]. Because a breach of privacy, for example, via a stolen private key, would not be known until the private key has been used, e-HEAL also requires an option that certain messages must wait a minimum period of time after being included in a block before they can be applied. So, e-HEAL account owners should have the possibility to use any owner key that was recently active along with approval from their designated account recovery partner to reset the owner key on their account.

Consensus algorithm

While e-HEAL aims to implement a fair accounting system, so that parties with more stakes can be more entrusted and parties with more work done can be more remunerated, within the software engineering profession, proof of stake or proof of work are terms that generally concern one type of particular participant, the block chainer who maintains the integrity of the blockchain. It is the block chainer who secures the immutability of the blockchain. While the theorem of Miller and LaViola [176] states that "the Bitcoin protocol achieves consensus, except for negligible probability, in a model with anonymous synchronous processes and a minority of Byzantine faults", with 51% of the computational mining power being able to centralise, for example, a mining pool has the possibility to chain its own block into an independent branch that ultimately converges to the longest chain⁴. This allows chainers to double-spend and to mine only their own transactions; and to essentially cheat the network. This security issue with proof-of-work

⁴The longest chain is the chain with the most average difficulty in chaining. Moreover, selfish nodes that do not broadcast are a much more serious security issue.

is known as a 51% attack.

During the early days of the Bitcoin network, for example, individuals could chain a block and receive Bitcoin mining rewards on an all-purpose laptop. However, resourceful parties are continually acquiring powerful ASICs, allowing mining power to become more and more concentrated [129]. Nodes that control more than 51% of the hash rate have the possibility of misbehaving. To address this issue, Ethereum, for example, proposed EthHash which uses the memory hardness property of general purpose laptops to move data in memory rather than through computations, while also, ensuring that this property is ASIC resistant. However, proof of work nonetheless takes time and energy to reach consensus, simply, because bruteforcing requires time and energy. And, proof of stake inevitably allows the "poor to become poorer" [132]

However, because e-HEAL involves many participants and consensus algorithms concern one particular type of participant, then we can select another particular type of participant to delegate block chaining duties. And because e-HEAL operation is designed to be sustainable via reserve rules mentioned in Norberg [59], parties with vested interest in the **long term** operations of e-HEAL will vote on block chainers to maintain the integrity of the blockchain where votes are weighted according to the amount of vested interest. Conceptually, this consensus algorithm is similar to the consensus algorithm adopted by companies throughout the world; and particularly in Steemit.com [20]. So, e-HEAL will employ a Delegated Proof of Stake (**DPOS**) which seems to be the only decentralized consensus algorithm capable of meeting the performance requirements of e-HEAL applications on the blockchain.

e-HEAL decentralised operating system: EOS

EOS [21] seems to be the only decentralised operating system that will satisfy the requirements of the e-HEAL protocol, with a mainet release intended in mid 2018. For example, EOS offers the possibility for an account owner to use any owner key that was active during the past 30 days to reset the owner key on their account [21]. Hackers have disincentives to go through the recovery because they would be compromised by this process which is distinct from a simple multi-signature arrangement whereby there is another company that is party to every

transaction that is executed [21]. So costs and also legal liabilities of e-HEAL would be dramatically reduced. EOS also provides a declarative permission management system that gives accounts fine grained and high level control over who can do what and when; with numerous benefits of parallel execution of permission evaluation, such as rapid validation of permission, reduction of computational load, among others [21]. Moreover, through ease of generating proof of message existence and proof of message sequence, inter-blobkchain communications are also facilitated on the EOS decentralised operating system. EOS thus seems to offer the best value, in terms of technological requirements of e-HEAL, for money, in terms of fees, with an already released live testnet.

e-HEAL initial products

e-HEAL is a technological facilitator that remunerates participants for their respective contributions in addressing different issues within the health allocation environment. One major issue is differences in perspectives. Proposed methods for achieving medical consensus has been numerous [177]. Despite health economic consensus reports drafted by international experts [66], heterogeneity in study designs, for example, implies heterogeneity in quantifying confidence intervals and this, in turn, implies heterogeneity in funding decisions [14]. The e-HEAL decision making platform aims to harmonize all aspects of health care decision making via a voting mechanism whereby participants are incentivised in the form of a cryptocurrency. So, decision making authority is shared with the patient who can allocate some of the e-HEAL tokens. This is made possible via a synthesis of different business models; inclusive of reserve models used by banks and insurance companies, business models of content creators that allow e-HEAL to not only host research articles freely, but to remunerate authors, reviewers and editors for their respective contributions. While the variety of products that can be built and that can communicate on the e-HEAL protocol are numerous, e-HEAL aims to initially start with the following applications that can be developed in parallel to the e-HEAL essential discussion platform:

- 1. a decision making platform
- 2. a mobile health app

A decision making platform

Because e-HEAL is intended to harmonise decision making within the health economic environment, the first Dapp that will be built will be a compartmentalised decision making platform. All decisions related to any aspects of the e-HEAL project will therefore be transparent and available on the public blockchain. These will involve different combinations of a "veil of ignorance policy" and a "transparency" policy depending on relevance. Moreover, all participants will be remunerated based on a smart contract if there is an agreement or based on the number of up-votes that their respective contributions receive from the community; with different permission levels. So, a patient might share a distress on the discussion compartment of the platform which will not only be free to share but which will also be remunerated; based on the platform's "content creation business model". So, a patient's subjective opinions, programming codes, mathematical algorithms, among other contributions can be uploaded in different compartments and accessible to the general public. While votes on remuneration packages for different compartments might follow the proven treasury model of Dash [58], votes on the discussion and social platform might follow the proven model of Steemit.com [20]. The number of up-votes on a certain aspect of a post would determine the remuneration of the specific contributor. Aspects of a post might be accuracy, importance, consistency with e-HEAL overall goal, among others that depend on the specific compartment in question. This platform is an extension to steemit.com [20] with regards to functionalities and is fully compatible with our intended decentralised operating system, EOS [21]. While steemit.com is the interface, steem, the database, can accommodate interfaces like facebook.com or biomedcentral.com with fairly equal ease. So, within the research compartment, not only can authors publish freely but they can be remunerated for their publications and not only can interested parties access articles freely, but they can also be remunerated for up-votes. Impact-factors and such Journal metrics are also improved in both statistical precision and accuracy.

A mobile health Dapp

Medicine is one of the oldest professions [178, 179, 180] and, today, there are not only large medical databases [181, 182, 183] but also thousands of mobile health applications [184]. Martinez-Perez et al conducted a search querry in 2013 resulting in more than 3673 docu-

mented mobile health applications [184]. And, given the exponential growth of mobile health applications, as noted by The Grand View Research Team, U.S.A, there are possibly tens of thousands of mobile health applications today. Bellina and Missoni [185] and Bellina et al [186] for example, emphasize the role that mobile health applications can play in educating locals from low income rural areas. Terry [187] also mentions the ease of mobile phones to take and send images from a microscope. While mobile diagnostic tools are becoming more accessible in poor rural areas, e-HEAL improves on most aspects of such tools; freely in poor rural areas and at competitive prices in others. e-HEAL uses a Generic Multi Index Database API [22], a new database API that gives WebAssembly a handle by which it can quickly find and iterate over database objects; significantly increasing the performance by changing the complexity of finding the next or previous item in a database from $\mathcal{O}(\log n)$ to $\mathcal{O}(1)$. So, data from the e-HEAL discussion and content creation platform are more efficiently utilized and in a more ethical way than centralised social media advertising platforms; so that platform users are synonymous to distributed beneficiaries and advertisers also do not have access to data beyond consented disclosures. Ease of interblockchain communication is also achieved on e-HEAL's intended decentralised operating system by making it easy to generate proof of message existence and proof of message sequence, combined with an application architecture designed around message passing [21]. So, e-HEAL can also communicate efficiently with, for example, both the oracles of DOC.ai [23], with artificially intelligent OMICs and coinhealth.io [24], with a patient's hashed verification without access to information that are private and personal, for a more precise allocation of free and priced products to patients who have total privacy while disclosing only health related information, for precision medicine purposes. So, apart from adhering to all international laws about privacy, maximizing relevance also maximizes efficiency in data processing. This also significantly increases the inflow into the e-HEAL fund with more potential outflows to poor areas.

Marketing strategy

Cryptocurrencies are bits of information, serving as disincentives or incentives, that stream through a network in order to keep it running. And depending on the utility of the network programs, they have different demands and, therefore, exchange values. However, cryptocurrencies generally have highly volatile fiat prices. Concerning the price of Bitcoin, for example, the New Liberty Standard established a value of \$1 to be 1309 BTC in October 2009 based on electrical and energy costs. In June 2010, Bitcoin price ranged between \$0.80 to \$1 and two months later, in August 2010, Bitcoin price drops to the floor. With a high of around \$20000 in December 2017, Bitcoin pulled back to about \$6000 in February 2018. And, because Bitcoins are required to purchase most of the other cryptocurrencies, the majority of the cryptocurrency market also suffers from this volatility.

Cryptocurrency market volatility

Stability is an important feature in all markets. However, apart from users of a certain commodity creating demand, any market is generally composed of two distinct types of players from two, often, opposing schools of thought. They are the firm foundation analysts such as long term investors and technical analysts such as high speed traders. And, with regulatory systems generally moving at a much slower pace than technological ones, drivers of so-called "new economy" are often subject to much speculative frenzy. One such frenzy was seen in the Netherlands during the Tulip bubble of the 1630's [188, 189]. And another similar putative mania was seen in the 1840's with the rail industry in Britain [190]. Thousands of investors on moderate income would buy the, then unregulated, railway shares which were speculated to give rise to a new economy. The railway market however collapsed significantly in 1845 ruining some parties but also allowing established railways to purchase strategic lines cheaply. A more recent mass phe-

nomena was the 1990's Dotcom herd behaviours that was seen with companies' share price rising hundreds of percentage points by simply adding ".com" in their company names [191, 192].

However, the Netherlands is today indeed the world's top Tulip exporter, trains are an integral part of Britain, and interactions without internet are difficult in modern times. Although the underlying blockchain technology does seem unfailing, blockchain company prices are largely driven by news. Besides being contingent on news and hype, the Bitcoin price "puppet" is also an ardent rock-n-roller to the strings of rumours. And this seems disproportionately leveraged by some market actors, such as pump and dumpers. So, market prices cannot correctly reflect any intrinsic value of a "new economic driver" by disregarding the motivations of the different players; although intrinsic value is totally subjective because value in general is. Some shady groups, for example, might find value in the anonymity of some cryptocurrencies. An investor, on the other hand, would reason that taking profit is stopping profit while a trader would generally aim to buy low and sell high. And, regardless of price movements, the trader can always profit by longing or shorting a position; with buying followed by selling or with selling followed by buying, respectively.

In high speed trading, for example, a company, known to be a scam by all market traders, is often a good buy when the speed of the market dump slows sufficiently because the shorts will have to cover, raising the price, at least, in the short term until regulatory bodies catch up. So, market entry points and exit points are crucial. These can generally be determined by estimating when market bulls bought the dip and market bears sold the tip. Statistical tools might help to determine price support and resistance levels with a certain degree of confidence. And a common knowledge among high speed traders is the actual speed of the price movements. That is, it is not only the price increase that determines entry or exit points but it is also how fast a price is increasing or decreasing. Rapid growth in monetary value or other liquid values does usually justify profit taking. Profit taking in turns implies a market pullback with high probability of consolidation flags. However, despite the bullish overbought situation in early December 2017, and despite the January 2018 market pull back, the technology, itself, is redefining information security, democracy, economics, job markets, whereby, for example, individuals are rather handsomely remunerated for merely sharing opinions on social media (see for example steemit.com [20]),
among various other disruptions; at least until the arrival of quantum computers which will likely disrupt the entire Fintech market. So, the opposite schools of asset valuation, the "castle in the air" theory of Keynes [193] with primarily psychological posits and the "firm foundation theory" of Bachelier [194] with utility underpinnings, do seem to unusually share striking postulates in the cryptocurrency sphere. Therefore, while we aim to leverage from the technological aspects of cryptocurrencies, the goals of different players within the cryptocurrency sphere cannot be disregarded altogether.

Mobile Dapp pricing hedge mechanism

Despite allowing for a pricing of Dapps based on demand of the Dapps, a hedging mechanism becomes necessary to mitigate the volatile effect of e-HEAL token prices on the price of e-HEAL mobile Dapps. Also, remuneration of "content creators" in the discussion platform might best be in terms of a fairly stable token. An issue for purchasers of e-HEAL decentralised mobile applications, for example, is that one might purchase an application for $\in 1$ today and the price has risen to €2 tomorrow because of the volatility of e-HEAL tokens in the cryptocurrency market. And price stability is crucial for our mobile Dapp users, while allowing a competitive pricing of the Dapps compared to other mobile applications to exist. A hedge constructed with complex combinations of financial derivatives or with the Royal Mint Gold (https://rmg.royalmint.com/) who offer a peg to Gold that is held in reserve, however does not seem the most efficient. The most efficient hedge for e-HEAL mobile Dapps price volatility, given the purpose of e-HEAL, seems to be a peg with the global poverty line. This avoids unnecessary conversions and additional staffs who would feed the exchange databases. On the other hand, long term investors and decision makers would also like to see the value of e-HEAL tokens grow over time. So, taking into account the different players within e-HEAL community, e-HEAL tokens, the only exchangeable token in markets will include nominal pegs. The entire e-HEAL organisation is run through the following token types:

- 1. an electronic health economic long-term purchaser token (ehelper token)
- 2. an electronic health economic allocator token (e-heal token)

3. an inclusive health economic line of poverty uplifter (i-help-u token)

Holders of e-helper tokens represent the governance team of e-HEAL. The age of e-helper tokens held by a user also represents the amount of "vested interest" and this stake allows the token holder to delegate block chaining activities and to perform other rewarded tasks in proportion to the stakes. This token can also not be sold over the counter. Should a holder wish to sell his/her e-helper tokens for e-heal tokens, an automatic annuity, payable weekly to the seller will be executed. There are also no fees payable for any transaction within the e-HEAL organisation; whether the transactions are exchanges from e-helper tokens to e-heal tokens or from i-help-u tokens to e-heal tokens. Apart from e-heal tokens are both nominally priced and only exchangeable for e-heal tokens.

Dapps that require volatility hedge will be priced in i-help-u tokens. This token is nominally priced in units of the global poverty line; estimated at \$1.9 in 2015 [165]. However, a fixed price disregards basic economic laws of demand and supply. Moreover, price inflation also need to be accounted for. During the 2008 economic crisis, for example, data from the Federal reserve bank of St Louis, U.S.A, indicate that from August 2008 to January 2009, US money supply grew from \$871 Billion to \$1737 Billion within months and continued growing at an aggregate rate of around 20 % per year for the next seven years [20, 196]. So, e-HEAL hedging is done by translating basic macroeconomic principles to the microeconomic environment of e-HEAL. While it is beyond the scope of this whitepaper to embark onto debates between the different schools of monetary policy or fiscal policy, both schools, as well as the Cambridge approach [195] and others, concur that whatever goods are sold in a given period of time must necessarily equal to whatever goods are purchased in that same period of time. That is

$$M * V = P * Q \tag{2}$$

where

M = i-help-u token supply V = transactions per second P = price of mobile health Dapp Q = quantity of Dapps purchased In equation 2, Q, the quantity of Dapps purchased equals the quantity of Dapps sold and that is known. V, the number of transactions per second, tx/s, is also known. And, M, the i-help-u token supply, can be determined on a country to country basis. Although unbounded money supply seems unsustainable, a supply of i-help-u token that is strongly correlated with a country's inflation hardly seems unreasonable. It should be emphasized again here that i-help-u tokens only have a nominal existence and only serve the purpose of pricing across different countries. e-heal tokens, the only tokens exchangeable externally, on the other hand, have a supply cap of 1 Billion. Holders of e-heal tokens can exchange these tokens for both e-helper tokens and i-help-u tokens. e-helper tokens roughly resemble a fixed deposit that can be terminated any time with an annuity payable weekly; and are therefore less liquid. So, e-helper balances are non-transferable and non-divisible and so they cannot be traded on an exchange.

i-help-u tokens also cannot be traded on an exchange; although they can be exchanged any time for e-heal tokens over the counter with no fees. i-help-u tokens are nominal specifically because their prime purpose is for pricing and they are only exchangeable within e-HEAL organisation for e-heal tokens. However, the nominal i-help-u tokens do contribute real profits; despite the fact that this real profit is expressed in nominal tokens because i-help-u tokens have an exchange value in terms of tradeable e-heal tokens. With a desirable real percentage profit from different countries, determined from the e-HEAL fund algorithm (see Figure 1 on page 23), then, P, the price of mobile health Dapps that a purchaser will pay, based on country codes can be calculated. This price is dependent on different rates of inflation and different percentage profits within different countries where e-HEAL Dapps are sold, rather than given freely. So, defining π = as the inflation rate in a certain country and r = as the real percentage profit in that country, then, from Fisher [197], the symbolic percentage profit, s, from Dapps that a purchaser will pay and that incomes the e-HEAL fund from a certain country is

$$s = r + \pi \tag{3}$$

This pricing mechanism only serves the purpose of setting prices of e-HEAL Dapps to maintain stability while adjusting for inflation and competition. Also, s, the symbolic percentage profit from sale, will determine the minimum price that a Dapp purchaser should pay. So,

purchasers who wish to contribute more to free Dapps in poor rural areas can freely do so. i-help-u tokens can also be further divided among different forseeable future Dapps. So, market exchange feeds are necessary for the efficient in-house exchange of e-heal tokens. Despite interblockchain facility and automated oracles, incorrect feeds and long delays can pose potential issues. So, maximizing reliability of price feed with minimum costs and minimizing the time to acquire feeds are crucial. This can be done in similar fashion to Steemit.com [20]. That is: 1) reliability of feeds are maximized via a reward-based mandate mechanism so that feeders compete to earn the right to produce median feeds implying that outliers have little impact; 2) while interblockchain communication is eased, it would be ideal if an exchange chain utilizes lightweight merkle proofs and 3) especially when requiring feeds from outside a blockchain, automatically assigning a sequence number to every message delivered to every account also reduces costs. EOS [21] should be able to accommodate all these requirements.

Initial Coin Earning scheme

Recently, several news media reported on a scam Initial Coin Offering (ICO) that raised about \$830,000 with a Hollywood actor pictured as its graphic designer [200, 201, 202]. The growing number of ICO scams have prompted several regulatory bodies to necessitate company registrations and fund raiser disclosures so that the fund raisers can be held accountable by their funders and financiers [203]. As a further example of a possibility to raise funds without any intended outcome, upon an initial e-heal token offering, for each token that a financier purchases, we might purchase 1.01 tokens and obtain majority vote to transfer all tokens to our account. So, the issue of a cartel operating to control the entire network is infinitely magnified at the singularity point of the e-HEAL network start-up because there are no nodes. And assuming that we are a Bitcoin whale, with a persistent threat of executing a 51% attack at hand, we are, therefore, not launching an ICO. While ICOs are argued to be the future of crowd funding because they offer greater opportunity for participants compared to Initial Public Offerings (IPOs), possibilities with no outcomes benefiting financiers exist. Friedman [198], for example, noted the difficulties in establishing equality of opportunity for all.

Phillips also discussed equality of opportunity in conjunction with equality of outcome [199]. So, scams and other schemes with no intended outcomes can be eliminated through contractual specification of contingencies on outcomes. Therefore, e-HEAL aims to specify the contingencies entailed in contracts between two paties so as to eliminate possibilities of misbehaviour rather than specify personal details about the parties so as to hold one party accountable towards the other in case of misbehaviour. In that sense, e-HEAL shifts the transparency from individual disclosures to transparency in agreement specifications. In line with Rawls theory of justice [148], this also allows all contents, inclusive of disclosures of medical practitioner licenses, to be marketable by a participant; with tailor-made smart contracts reflecting increasing accountability and thus, increasing revenues, for increasing disclosures. So, apart from patients and medical doctors, all participants can choose to take an active role or a passive role within the e-HEAL decentralised decision making platform; with the purchase of trust at the price of public disclosures and license verifications. And, because all participants can choose to take an active role or a passive role in all operations, as far as possible, all smart contracts will involve two options suiting the preferences of the two types of participants.

Currently, we are launching an Initial Coin Earning (ICE) scheme which is essentially a collection of smart contracts with outcome specifications so that peers can choose to take an active or passive role as a worker and/or an active or a passive role as a work financier. Until the mainnet release of EOS decentralised operating system, our ICE will run on Rootstock (RSK) network, powered by the current most secure network, the Bitcoin network, and with custodians of Bitcoins that are sufficiently decentralised. So, different participants can choose to exchange that which they have in excess for that which they aspire in return; whether concerning an exchange of intellectual contributions for Bitcoins or an exchange of Bitcoins today for more Bitcoins tomorrow, depending on individual attitudes towards risk. Therefore, our Initial Coin Earning mechanism is primarily based on proof of some work with remuneration from financiers who desire to grow their Bitcoin holdings. This is not dissimilar to the start-up of the Bitcoin network itself, except that a financier subjectively selects a work with the most difficulty to remunerate. However, the financiers are incentivised in the form of a smart contract that will earn them different returns on their investments depending on their individual attitudes towards risk. e-HEAL thus minimizes misbehaviours by simply adding more precision and specificity to agreements and contracts. So, all individuals contribute to the ICE scheme on a purely peer-to-peer basis with contracts that suit their individual degrees of risk aversion. And, because we aim to achieve a sufficient number of geographically decentralised participants who would hold e-helper tokens, our ICE scheme is necessary to attract participants prior to the crowdfunding launch. The maximum e-helper token held will however be capped depending on country codes. The total supply of e-helper tokens will be 10 million, 1% of the total e-heal token supply. Because e-helper tokens have a much smaller supply than e-heal tokens, because they are demographically capped on a country-to-country basis, and because they give their

holders decision making and voting rights on core decisions, they are the most valuable tokens within e-HEAL.

Financier incentives

Financiers initially select a work that they want to remunerate or multiple works with different remunerations. So, they have more choices as to which specific work they want to remunerate and to specify an address their Bitcoins are going to. It is important that all individual intellectual contributions can be tracked via pull requests, branching, merging and etcetera; such as the tracking on github.com. Initially, financiers choose works that are already done and that they want to remunerate. Their Bitcoins, converted into SBTC, will be paid to a worker depending on the financiers selected attitude towards risk. Financier contracts will offer 2 options, one option suiting the aspirations of financiers who are risk averse and want an assurance of recouping their Bitcoins and one contract suiting the aspirations of financiers who are not risk averse and can afford paying a worker without any assurances. If, for any reason, the crowdfunding is not launched within, say, the next 9 months, the first category of financier will recoup his/her SBTC in the worst case scenario. Upon the launch of our fund raising for e-heal tokens within the next 7 months, however, in the best case scenario, apart from recouping their SBTC, the first category of financiers will also have their Bitcoin worth of investments in e-heal tokens as a reward for not having use of their Bitcoins prior to the fund raising. So, financiers can effectively double their Bitcoin worth in remunerating an e-HEAL worker for work that has already been done. Doubling a Bitcoin worth in 7 months implies an approximate return of roughly 10% per month which are paid in e-heal tokens.

The second category of financier who does not require any assurance is essentially donating bitcoins to a worker for work done in the worst case scenario. As a reward for donations, however, in the best case scenario, this category of financier will be ensured his/her Bitcoin worth of donations in e-helper tokens which give the financier voting rights. And because e-helper tokens are demographically capped and bestow increased voting powers upon their holders, they are much scarcer and more valuable than e-heal tokens. So, the e-helper tokens will be distributed first to this category of financier. If the entitlements to e-helper tokens, evaluated by Bitcoin worth, are above a certain demographic cap, the net remaining entitlements above the cap will be paid in e-heal tokens. While this whitepapers coin earning scheme does not stipulate any further rewards for donators except their exact donations worth in terms of e-helper tokens, donators who will hold e-helper tokens will be the actual governance team of e-HEAL and will be responsible for votes on treasury matters. The reason why this white paper does not stipulate any further rewards is to prevent participants from gaming the ICE scheme. A worker with Bitcoins might "donate" to himself/herself repeatedly without any bounds and be entitled to a Ponzi-like growing number of e-heal tokens. With a one-to-one Bitcoin worth to ehelper token reward, there are no incentives to game the system. Upon crowd funding, however, all holders of e-helper tokens who undertook a higher risk during the ICE scheme can rightfully vote for a higher risk/reward ratio than financiers who were assured their SBTC custody. Most notably, the treasury system of Dash [58] with 10% treasury allocation has been proven to be a sustainable remuneration allocation. An issue with regards to distribution of e-helper tokens, however, is that in regions with extreme poverty, participants might not exist due to absence of technologies. A demographic proportion of e-helper tokens will however be allocated to potential and prospective participants from such regions. So, pre-mining of coins will also be transparent.

Worker incentives

Workers, on the other hand, have no assurances whatsoever of receiving any reward because the ICE scheme is based on work that is already done and depends solely on subjective evaluations of those works by financiers. The sole reward of a worker during the coin earning scheme is dependent on the generosity of a donor and the risk/reward aspirations of a financier. However, a worker's account will also comprise of two types of balances: A balance giving a worker who has the possibility of cashing out from a donor and a balance where the worker has custody of a financier's Bitcoins to be repaid after, say, a maximum period of 7 months in the event that the crowdfunding is not launched. A worker who considers himself/herself to have received his/her dues before his/her sweat dried out can cash out his/her SBTC in the first balance anytime and will not receive any e-heal tokens upon crowdfunding. A worker can however choose not to cash out in order to repay the financier if the crowdfunding is not materialised within the maximum period. Thus, this worker is effectively donating his/her work and is keeping his/her sweat worth of labour within e-HEAL. So, this category of worker will earn the worth of his/her Bitcoin holdings in e-heal tokens and also earn e-helper tokens upon the e-HEAL crowdfunding launch when the worker returns the SBTC that were in his/her custody to the financier. So, for relying solely on voluntary and possibly in-existent remunerations based on the generosity of financiers, upon the crowdfunding launch, this category of worker who will earn the workers Bitcoin worth of labour in terms of e-heal tokens and ehelper tokens is also motivated to work in a time efficient manner for receipt of his/her labour worth of e-heal tokens and e-helper tokens. So, time invested by a worker or SBTC invested by a Bitcoiner are equally valuable to e-HEAL. If all SBTC paid into e-HEAL remains within e-HEAL until crowdfunding launch, all participants, workers and financiers, are effectively investing their time and Bitcoins. Currently, e-HEAL can do without Bitcoin financiers but cannot do without time and work investors to perform preliminary work until a crowdfunding launch. And, because donors and workers who dont cash out their Bitcoins have no guarantee of reward, their priority are assumed to match those of e-HEAL and they will receive e-helper tokens that give them governance rights. In case all workers cash out, then only financiers will be rewarded in e-heal and e-helper tokens with voting powers. And in case, no Bitcoin financiers exist during the ICE and only workers exist, then, workers, the only stakeholders in this case, should provide the public with an additional informational work on what percentage of the raised funds is to be allocated to work already done and what percentage is to be allocated for work to be done. The treasury model of Dash [58] might again be useful. So, during crowdfunding, the SBTC raised should first ensure that a fair accounting system prevails; both towards work already done and towards work to be done and both towards stakes already held and towards stakes to be held. While majority stakeholders are rewarded with e-helper tokens until a demographic cap, a portion of e-helper tokens will also be allocated to potential participants from poor countries who are expected to join after our Dapps grow in markets; whence the input/output e-HEAL fund model, as pictured in figure 1, becomes active. It is not unimportant to note that until e-HEAL content creation platform becomes operational or until Dapps and e-HEAL products are sold to users, the entirety of our remuneration scheme and the value of e-heal tokens or e-helper tokens are not immuned against a crash. The value of the tokens depends primarily on network effect generated by users.

Steps up to and during crowdfunding

While all of the work has to be done prior to any remuneration in our ICE scheme, e-HEAL progress will significantly slow and possibly come to a halt if e-HEAL falls short of Bitcoin financiers and, more importantly, time investors or workers, e-HEAL might also necessitate experts through an open call or a procurement with predetermined remuneration so that the Initial Coin Earning scheme is not sustainable over time because it only allows remuneration for work already done and not for work that is yet to be done. For example, consider the following case of an open call for an expert with rare competencies. Warfarin drug has a narrow therapeutic range so that beyond or below certain dosages, the drug is toxic and causes bleeding in patients [207, 208]. And this drug is often prescribed in tablets that are discrete and countable. However, the risk profiles of drugs that have a narrow therapeutic range and that are prescribed using tablets, i.e. dosages that are elements of discrete numbers, might not be correctly approximated using Brownian motion models because although rational and irrational numbers complete the number line, it is difficult to prescribe dosages that are elements of irrational numbers. So, a continuous-state continuoustime (cs-ct) stochastic model which is based on differentials in probability coupled with Diracs measure, using the possibilities, therapeutic (increase, in general), toxic (decrease, in general) or neither, would be better modelling according to the principle of maximum entropy. Therefore, an open call with competitive remunerations for an expert in pharmacodynamic models, pharmacokinetic models and differential equations in stochastic processes might be warranted. Although an individual might launch an open call or a bounty for a work to be done or for a bug identification, e-HEAL requires sufficient number of geographically decentralised participants who would hold e-helper tokens and this decentralisation of stakeholders is eased via a crowdfunding. Preliminary work leading to the crowdfunding is however necessary.

Necessary preliminary work for crowdfunding

First, it is important that two specific types of options are encoded into a smart contract on RSK. A financier who wants an assurance of recouping his/her SBTC can only pay a worker who agrees not to cash out. During the crowdfunding, the financier then recoups SBTC in custody and receives e-heal tokens and the worker receives e-heal tokens and e-helper tokens. On the other hand, a financier who does not require any assurances can pay workers who have the possibility of cashing out at any time. During the crowdfunding, the financier receives e-helper tokens with voting rights on treasury. And workers who had the possibility of cashing out would only receive e-heal tokens if their work would receive further investments from crowdfunding voters and/or other voters thereafter. All work done within e-HEAL will be permanently available for votes and remuneration. While one individual might rightfully act as both a financier and a worker, it is imperative that the 4 balances, namely 2 types of financier balances and 2 types of worker balances, are distinguishable. A single SBTC address can however encompass these 4 balances.

Second, an account for users that contain several fields will be created. All fields will be separately hashed to give a Merkle hash. This prevents any bias for remuneration by providing anonymity to voters. Also, while we require a sufficient amount of geographical decentralisation for e-HEAL governance, all workers should be remunerated according to the quality and quantity of their work and any other information, such as nationality, is irrelevant. Fields might consist of:

- 1. a username
- 2. an SBTC address
- 3. an identifier for a piece of work, if any
- 4. a phone number
- 5. any other information

In some cases, a user might also wish to use an SBTC address only once and the Merkle hash for the other fields is sufficient for verification. A user might also be a frequent traveller and wish to change his/her phone number for access to e-HEAL mobile Dapps. Given that country codes are in the orders of hundreds starting with a known + sign, a user location can be verified within seconds by bruteforcing the entry for country codes. For as long as only one field is desired to be changed by the user at a time, verification is always possible. So, users have control over all their disclosures, except for country codes which we can bruteforce to ensure e-helper tokens are fairly evenly distributed across different geographical regions. For voting purposes, however, anonymous and transparent voting is necessary. Third, a Dapp for scoring work done or work to be done is necessary during the crowdfunding. This scoring Dapp might be similar to Loughborough University contribution scoring system for anonymously evaluating collective work of peers [204]. Although partial honesty, as mentioned in Dutta and Sen [205], might prevail, scoring will be compared to median votes. So, apart from generating an honesty score based on median vote, this scoring mechanism can also potentially be used to determine author participation in e-HEAL publications compartment given that disputed authorships are numerous, as per the committee of publication ethics (COPE) website [206]. So, a working paper compartment for ongoing work and a published paper compartment might both be useful. The working paper compartment should be immuned against any censorship and accessible to all who wish to see or look into a mentioned issue. The published paper compartment will however be subject to votes and will then combine individual working papers, review comments which are also in the form of papers and editorial notes into high quality papers. Our built in platform dictionary which aims for homogeneity in health economic evaluation, also allows standard coding of e-HEAL program executions. Moreover, while medical doctors contributing to the expansion of the e-HEAL dictionary might be remunerated, pharmaceutical companies who wish to target the patient clientle of e-HEAL for advertising might, on the other hand, have to pay to add the names of their products on our platform. Companies with excessive and intransparent pricing might pay into the e-HEAL fund while companies or hospitals manufacturing their own products with transparant pricing might be paid by the e-HEAL fund depending on votes. For the purposes of remuneration, the following voting system and ranking of weights will be used:

- 1. The fit of the goal of the work(informational content creation, advertising, and other work) within the complex problem solution of e-HEAL. That is, how does the work performed or the procurement call fits within the premise of e-HEAL? And what contribution does the specific goal serves towards the overall goal to erect a sustainable safety net whose strength increases with increasing medical severity and necessity?
- 2. The epistemological accuracy of the work. Proven mathematical theorems or 100% consensus will weigh more than works with 99% confidence which will weigh more than works that used 95% confidence intervals.

3. Other factors that the community will deem fit. These might represent a subjective difficulty scoring, time efficiency of the work delivery and others. For example, work that is delivered sooner than an agreement might receive more remuneration than work that are delivered later.

Discussion

With the aim of paving a path towards a generalized VFM for health technologies, this whitepaper groups the goals within the healthcare decision making environment using the operators of Zadeh [146]. Because of differences in nomenclature between medicine and pharmacology, we are first creating the e-HEAL platform with a built in dictionary so that a word provides the means to clear meanings. Thus, e-HEAL peers start off with a fairly basic dictionary that is expanded by the peers, themselves; eliminating any fuzziness. Our social platform also allows peers to express how they perceive the severity of a medical condition functioning similarly to "steemit up-vote button". This, in turn, allows an oracle to be created where diseases are ranked according to severity. And, this, in turn, allows e-HEAL to distribute the greatest amount of the fund to the most severely ill individuals, constrained by perfect health, and our algorithm repeats this process, constrained by the e-HEAL stochastic reserve. And this allocation is economically always optimal from the rearrangement inequality [56]. This allocation model can be implemented using actuarial models pertaining to safety funds [156, 157, 158]. In the Netherlands, for example, while the government is responsible for health, health insurers are responsible for the management [159].

While e-HEAL functions on a peer-to-peer basis, typical concepts and important requirements in representative democracies are redefined. Accountability, for example, is of key importance in a health allocation scheme where lives are at stake. In the setting of Bovens [209], *the concept of accountability is used in a rather narrow sense: a relationship between an actor and a forum, in which the actor has an obligation to explain and to justify his or her conduct, the forum can pose questions and pass judgement, and the actor may face consequences.* e-HEAL, on the other hand, allows all members of the forum to share the role of the actor and thus dissolves the roles of the actor and the forum into

one another, allowing all parties to take an active role in matters that are important to them; such as access to medical care. And, while peers choose to take an active role or a passive role, an essential network rule that all peers agree to is that the most severely ill are prioritized. So, the peers have only themselves to hold accountable. And blockchain technology makes this allocation optimal because it allows maximization of population health on an individual basis. Strictly speaking, health is maximized on a peer-to-peer basis where all peers agree that the most severely ill are prioritized and this priority decreases with decreasing need. And, with this network rule, all peers are, collectively, maximally accountable towards one another.

Assuming that, for example, the consequences, faced by all individuals due to the decision, are mirrored onto those with an active decision making role, then the maximization of health on an individual basis also allows for maximum accountability for expenditure of a common fund; given that the most prioritized and least contextual variable is severity [2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 1]. This assumption that the consequences that are faced by the individuals comprising the forum are mirrored onto the decision maker hardly seems unacceptable for individuals in pursuit of their well-being. This is because an important class of neurons that is argued to form the basis of empathy is the mirror neurons [210]. Although mirror neurons are not empathy neurons, they do contribute to the building blocks that govern our ethical and social concerns [211, 212]. These neurons are today known to be present in the human mind [213]. They fire both when we act and when we observe the same action performed by another [213]. Given the fuzzy issues about equity in healthcare [214], then the selected perspective is maximally accountable to, at least, visible victims. Moreover, mirror neurons are also known to play roles in motor imagery [215] so that they are activated when an "observing self" [216] creates an "internal theater" [217].

This possibly brings into accord the existing controversies regarding an individual's moral duties towards visible victims as opposed to victims that are beyond the visual landscape [3, 5, 10, 123, 218, 219, 220, 221]; as is the case with an individual blinded by a veil of ignorance, as proposed by Rawls [148]. The principles of justice of Rawls have, however, had many criticisms; such as, for example, from Gibbard [222]. Cubbon [223], for example, inferred that "according to criteria similar to those which defined the Rawlsian Original Position, a judgement as

to which policy will maximise QALYs will, therefore, have a measure of objectivity" while Harris [224] criticised the 'objectivity' of Cubbon [223] and found the 'original position' and the 'veil of ignorance' behind which it hides to be misleading. However, Cubbon [223] is assuming the role of an aggregate individual; which is not similar to the role of one individual who does not know, in advance, who one is. When one individual does not know in advance who one is, then, one first desires a safety net for protection against the worst possibilities, such as treatments for the direst conditions; as postulated by various laws and legislations above-mentioned. The more dire the condition, the stronger the safety net is expected and the strength of the net decreases with decreasing direness of the condition. So, the proposed maximization of population health on an individual basis of direness is maximally just, according to Rawls theory of justice [120].

Moreover, filtering irrelevance [225, 226] is also made possible with Rawls veil of ignorance. So, preferences towards such patient attributes as gender, sexual orientation or race would have questionable relevance to e-HEALs allocation problem [106, 227, 228]. Patient attributes such as age [227, 229, 230, 231, 232, 233, 234, 235, 236, 237], social roles such as contribution to community and criminal record [123, 227], (non)smoker and others are known to influence prioritization of the public [228]. So, the preference for treatment of a young patient over an old one and the preference for treatment of a dire condition over a mild one implies that a treatment for a young patient with a mild condition and a treatment for an old patient with a dire condition are equally preferred according to Von Neumann-Morgenstern rationality axioms [149]. The objectives of the allocation problem would, then, potentially be conflicting. So, the essential priority of e-HEAL, aiming to provide a safety net whose strength decreases with decreasing necessity of intervention, serves as a technical device for holding together the elements upon which the value of money, and changes in that value, depend" [195].

In conclusion: Maximization of population health on an individual basis of medical necessity is in line with the "rule of rescue" principle in moral philosophy, is in line with all major laws and legislations ensuring our fundamental right to a long and healthy life and is also in accordance with economic optimality in the allocation of health. And blockchain makes this allocation technologically feasible.

Bibliography

- [1] SCHLANDER M, GARATTINI S, HOLM S, KOLOMINSKI-RABAS P, NORD E, PERSSON U, POSTMA M, RICHARDSON J, SIMOENS S, DE SOLA-MORALES O, TOLLEY K AND TOUMI M (2014) Incremental cost per quality-adjusted life year gained? The need for alternative methods to evaluate medical interventions for ultra-rare disorders.
- [2] NORD E (1999) Cost-value analysis in health care *Making Sense* out of *QALYs*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- [3] RICHARDSON J AND MCKIE J (2007) Economic evaluation of services for a National Health scheme: the case for a fairnessbased framework J. Health Econ 26, 4, pg 785
- [4] LINLEY WG AND HUGHES DA (2013) Societal views on NICE, cancer drugs fund and value-based pricing criteria for prioritising medicines: a cross-sectional survey of 4118 adults in Great Britain. *Health Econ.* 22, pg 948
- [5] RICHARDSON J AND MCKIE J (2005) Empiricism, ethics and orthodox economic theory: what is the appropriate basis for decision-making in the health sector? Soc. Sci. Med. 60, pg 265
- [6] SHAH KK (2009) Severity of illness and priority setting in healthcare: a review of the literature *Health Policy* 93, pg 77
- [7] UBEL PA, SPRANCA MD, DEKAY ML, HERSHEY JC AND ASCH DA (1998) Public preferences for prevention versus cure: what if an ounce of prevention is worth only an ounce of cure? *Med Decision Making*, 18, 2, pg 141
- [8] COOKSON R AND DOLAN P (1999) Public views on health care rationing: a group discussion study. Health Policy 49, 1–2, pg 63

- [9] NORD E (1993) The trade-off between severity of illness and treatment effect in cost-value analysis of health-care. Health Policy, 24, 3, pg 227
- [10] JONSEN AR (1986) Bentham in a box: technology assessment and health care allocation. Law, Med. Health Care 14, pg 172
- [11] DANIELS N (1985) Daniels N. Just Health Care. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- [12] DANIELS N (2008) Just Health. Meeting Health Needs Fairly. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- [13] LUEBBE W (2014) Can the QALY approach be amended to meet fairness objectives? In: Economic Evaluation for Health Technology Assessment: Foundations and Limitations. Schlander M (Ed.). Springer, NY, USA
- [14] NORD E AND JOHANSEN R (2014) Concerns for severity in priotity setting in health care: a review of trade-off data in preference studies and implications for societal willingness-to-pay for a QALY. Health Policy 116, 2–3, pg 281
- [15] DJULBEGOVIC B, LACEVIC M, CANTOR A, FIELDS KK,BENNETT CL, ADAMS JR, KUDERER NM AND LYMAN GH (2000) The uncertainty principle and industry-sponsored research *The Lancet*, 356, 9230, pg 635
- [16] MONTANER JS, O'SHAUGHNESSY MV AND SCHECHTER MT (2001). Industry-sponsored clinical research: a doubleedged sword *The Lancet 358*, 9296, pg 1893
- [17] MICHEL M AND TOUMI M (2012) Access to orphan drugs in Europe: current and future issues *Expert review of pharmacoeconomics & outcomes research*, *12*, 1, pg 23
- [18] PICAVET E, MOREL T, CASSIMAN D AND SIMOENS S (2014). Shining a light in the black box of orphan drug pricing Orphanet journal of rare diseases, 9, 1, pg 1
- [19] ROOS JC, HYRY HI AND COX TM (2010) Orphan drug pricing may warrant a competition law investigation BMJ, 341: c6471-10.1136/bmj.c6471.

- [20] STEEMIT.COM WHITEPAPER Available at https://steem.io/SteemWhitePaper.pdf
- [21] EOS WHITEPAPER Available at https://github.com/EOSIO/Documentation/blob/master/Technical WhitePaper.md
- [22] EOS GENERIC MULTI INDEX DATABASE API Available at https://github.com/eosio
- [23] DOC.AI WHITEPAPER Available at https://s3-us-west-1.amazonaws.com/ai.doc.static/pdf/whitepaper.pdf
- [24] COINHEALTH.IO WHITEPAPER Available at https://coinhealth.io/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CoinHealth-Whitepaper-01-22-2018.pdf
- [25] ORPHAN DRUG ACT (1983) Public Law 97-414 Sect. J (b). 1983
- [26] EUROPEAN REGULATION (EC) 141/2000. 1999. available at (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?qid=1508105228330&uri=CELEX:32000R0141)
- [27] SIMOENS S, PICAVET E, DOOMS M,CASSIMAN D, MOREL T (2013)Cost-effectiveness assessment of orphan drugs: a scientific and political conundrum. Applied health economics and health policy, 11(1): 1.
- [28] WELLMAN-LABADIE O, ZHOU Y (2010)The US Orphan Drug Act: rare disease research stimulator or commercial opportunity? Health Policy, 95(2): 216
- [29] ARTICLE 10 OF THE UN CONVENTION ON THE RIGHTS OF PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES Available at (http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CRPD/Pages/Convent ionRightsPersonsWithDisabilities.aspx#10)
- [30] COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION OF 8 JUNE 2009 on THE FIELD OF AN ACTION IN RARE (2009/C)151/02). 2009,http://eur-DISEASES lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2009:15 1:0007:0010:EN:PDF, June on an action in the field of rare diseases. (2009/C 151/02).

- [31] EXPLANATORY NOTES TO EQUALITY ACT (2010) http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/notes/contents.
- [32] PROPOSAL FOR A COUNCIL DIRECTIVE ON IMPLEMENTING THE PRINCIPLE OF EQUAL TREATMENT BETWEEN PERSONS IRRESPECTIVE OF RELIGION OR BELIEF, DISABILITY, AGE OR SEXUAL ORIENTATION Available at,http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ .do?uri=COM:2008:0426:FIN:EN:HTML
- [33] ARTICLE 1 AND (J) UN RECITAL Convention the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. on http://www.un.org/disabilities/convention/conventionfull.shtml.
- [34] HYRY HI, ROOS JC, MANUEL J, COX TM The legal imperative for treating rare disorders. Orphanet journal of rare diseases. 2013; 8(1): 135.
- [35] HANCOCK G (1992). Lords of poverty: The power, prestige, and corruption of the international aid business. Atlantic Monthly Press.
- [36] MILL JS (1901) Utilitarianism. Longmans, Green and Company.
- [37] BENTHAM J (1996) The collected works of Jeremy Bentham: An introduction to the principles of morals and legislation. Clarendon Press.
- [38] WEINSTEIN MC AND STASON WB (1977) Foundations of cost–effectiveness analysis for health and medical practices N. Engl. J. Med. 296, pg 716
- [39] DOLAN P, SHAW R, TSUCHIYA A AND WILLIAMS A (2005) QALY maximisation and people's preferences: a methodological review of the literature. Health economics, 14, 2, 197-208.
- [40] ABELLAN-PERPINAN JM AND PRADES JLP (1999) Health state after treatment: a reason for discrimination? Health Econ. 8, 8, pg 701
- [41] MCCABE C, CLAXTON K AND CULYER AJ (2008) The NICE cost-effectiveness threshold. Pharmacoeconomics, 26, 9, pg 733

- [42] RICHARDSON J, SINHA K, LEZZI A AND MAXWELL A (2012) Maximising health versus sharing: measuring preferences for the allocation of the health budget. Soc. Sci. Med. 75, pg 1351
- [43] UBEL PA (2000) Pricing life why it's time for health care rationing *The MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, USA*
- [44] DRUMMOND MF, WILSON DA, KANOVOS P, UBEL P AND ROVIRA J (2007) Assessing the economic challenges posed by orphan drugs *International Journal of Technology Assessment inHealth Care* 23, 1, pg 36
- [45] DRUMMOND MF (2008) Challenges in the economic evaluation of orphan drugs *Eurohealth 14, 2, pg* 16
- [46] DE VARAX A, LETELLIER M AND BORTLEIN G (2004) Study on orphan drugs: Phase I: overview of the conditions for marketing orphan drugs in Europe *Alcimed, Paris, France*.
- [47] HAFFNER ME, TORRENT-FARNELL J AND MAHER PD (2008) Does orphan drug legislation really answer the needs of patients? *The lancet 371*, 9629, pg 2041
- [48] MCCABE C, TSUCHIYA A, CLAXTON K (2007) Raftery J. Assessing the economic challenges posed by orphan drugs: a comment on Drummond et al. *International Journal of Technol*ogy Assessment in Health Care, 23, 3, pg 397
- [49] PRICE R (2016) European Comission opens a public consultation on improving the European system of orphan medicine designation, Eur. J. Hosp. Pharm., 23, pg 123
- [50] RINALDI A (2005) Adopting an orphan *EMBO reports*, 6, 6, pg 507
- [51] SHELDON T (2012) Dutch doctors call for EU evaluation of cost effectiveness of high cost orphan drugs, *BMJ*
- [52] SONG P, GAO J, INAGAKI Y, KOKUDO N AND TANG W (2012) Rare diseases, orphan drugs, and their regulation in Asia: Current status and future perspectives *Intractable & rare diseases research*, 1,1, pg 3

- [53] TAMBUYZER E (2010) Rare diseases, orphan drugs and their regulation: questions and misconceptions *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 9, 12, pg 921
- [54] THAMER M, BRENNAN N AND SEMANSKY R (1998) A cross-national comparison of orphan drug policies: implications for the US Orphan Drug Act *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law, 23, 2, pg 265*
- [55] WASTFELT M, FADEEL B AND HENTER JI (2006) A journey of hope: lessons learned from studies on rare diseases and orphan drugs *Journal of internal medicine*, 260, 1, pg 1
- [56] HARDY GH, LITTLEWOOD JE AND POLYA G (1952) *Inequalities*. Cambridge university press.
- [57] BUTERIN VITALIK (2015) available at https://github.com/ethereum/wiki/White-Paper
- [58] DUFFIELD E AND HAGAN K (2014) Darkcoin: PeertoPeer CryptoCurrency with Anonymous Blockchain Transactions and an Improved ProofofWork System
- [59] NORBERG R (1990). Payment measures, interest, and discounting, an axiomatic approach with applications to insurance. Scand. Actuarial J. 1990, 14-33.
- [60] DYE C, REEDER JC AND TERRY RF (2013). Research for universal health coverage.
- [61] KNAUL FM, GONZLEZ-PIER E, GMEZ-DANTS O, GARCA-JUNCO D, ARREOLA-ORNELAS H, BARRAZA-LLORNS M, SANDOVAL R, CABALLERO F, HERNNDEZ-AVILA M, JUAN M, KERSHENOBICH D (2012) The quest for universal health coverage: achieving social protection for all in Mexico. The Lancet. Oct 6; 380(9849):1259-79.
- [62] LAGOMARSINO G, GARABRANT A, ADYAS A, MUGA R, OTOO N (2012) Moving towards universal health coverage: health insurance reforms in nine developing countries in Africa and Asia. The Lancet. Sep 8; 380(9845):933-43.
- [63] WHO WEBSITE Available at: www.who.int

- [64] NORMAN C, WEBER A AND CARRIN G (2009). Social health insurance: a guidebook for planning. World Health Organisation
- [65] CICHON M, NEWBRANDER W, YAMABANA H, WEBER A, NORMAND C, DROR D AND PREKER A (1999) Modelling in health care finance. United Kingdom: International Labour Office and International Social Security Association.
- [66] SCHLANDER M, GARATTINI S, KOLOMINSKI-RABAS P, NORD E, PERSSON U, POSTMA M, RICHARDSON J, SIMOENS S, DE SOLA-MORALES O, TOLLEY K AND TOUMI M (2016) Determining the value of medical technologies to treat ultra-rare disorders: a consensus statement. *Journal of market access & health policy*, 4.
- [67] PETERS DH, GARG A, BLOOM G, WALKER DG, BRIEGER WR AND HAFIZUR RAHMAN M (2008). Poverty and access to health care in developing countries. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1136(1), 161-171.
- [68] TROWMAN R, CHUNG H, LONGSON C, LITTLEJOHNS O, CLARK P (2011) The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence and its role in assessing the value of new cancer treatments in England and Wales. Clin. Cancer Res, 17(15): 4930
- [69] MCCABE C, CLAXTON K, TSUCHIYA A Orphan drugs and the NHS: should we value rarity? Br. Med. J. 2005, 331: 1016
- [70] WORLD HEALTH ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION 58.33. (2005) Sustainable health financing, universal coverage and social health insurance. In: Fifty-eighth World Health Assembly, Geneva, Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005.
- [71] SHERMIN V (2017) Disrupting governance with blockchains and smart contracts. Strategic Change, 26(5), 499-509.
- [72] ANTONANZAS F, TERKOLA R AND POSTMA M (2016) The value of medicines: a crucial but vague concept *PharmacoEconomics*, 34, 12, pg 1227
- [73] DIENER E, LUCAS RE AND OISHI S (2002) Subjective wellbeing *Handbook of positive psychology*, pg 63

- [74] PETO R, PIKE MC, ARMITAGE P, BRESLOW NE, COX DR, HOWARD SV, MANTEL N, MCPHERSON K, PETO J AND SMITH PG (1977) Design and analysis of randomized clinical trials requiring prolonged observation of each patient. II. analysis and examples *British journal of cancer*, 35, 1, pg 1
- [75] DRUMMOND MF, SCHULPHER MJ, TORRANCE GW, O'BRIEN BJ AND STODDART GL (2005) Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes third edition.
- [76] WILLIAMS A (1983), The Economic Role of Health Indicators, in G.Teeling Smith, ed., Measuring the Social Benefits of Medicine London: Office of the Health Economics. Pg 63
- [77] WEINSTEIN MC AND ZECKHAUSER R (1973) Critical ratios and efficient allocation J. Public Econom, 2, pg 147
- [78] CULYER AJ (1997) The rationing debate: maximising the health of the whole community the case for. Br. Med. J. 314, pg 667
- [79] BOS JM, POSTMA MJ AND ANNEMANS L (2006) Discounting health effects in pharmacoeconomic evaluations: current controversies *Pharmacoeconomics*, 24, pg 1273
- [80] MORTIMER D AND SEGAL L (2007) Comparing the Incomparable? A Systematic Review of Competing Techniques for Converting Descriptive Measures of Health Status into QALY-Weights *Medical Decision Making* 28, 1, pg 66
- [81] PRIETO L AND SACRISTAN JA (2003) Problems and solutions in calculating quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) *Health* and Quality of Life Outcomes 1, pg 80
- [82] PARDALOS PM, MIGDALAS A AND PITSOULIS L (Eds.) (2008) Pareto optimality, game theory and equilibria (Vol. 17). Springer Science & Business Media.
- [83] TOBIN J (1970) On limiting the domain of inequality J Law Econ 13, pg 263
- [84] JONES AM, RICE N, D'UVA TB AND BALIA S (2013). Applied health economics. Routledge.

- [85] TORRANCE GW (2006) Utility measurement in healthcare: the things I never got to. *Pharmacoeconomics* 24, 11, pg 1069
- [86] MCGREGOR M (2003) Cost–utility analysis: Use QALYs only with great caution *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 168, 4, pg 433
- [87] NORMAND C (2009) Measuring outcomes in palliative care: limitations of QALYs and the road to PalYs *Journal of pain and symptom management*, 38, 1, pg 27
- [88] SASSI F (2006) Calculating QALYs, comparing QALY and DALY calculations. *Health policy and planning*, *21*, *5*, pg 402
- [89] WHITEHEAD SJ AND ALI S (2010) Health outcomes in economic evaluation: the QALY and utilities *British medical bulletin*, 96, 1, pg 5
- [90] GOLD MR, SIEGEL JE, RUSSELL LB AND WEINSTEIN MC (1996) Cost-effectiveness in Health and Medicine ISBN: 978-0-19-510824-8
- [91] SORENSON C, DRUMMOND M AND KANAVOS P (2008) Ensuring value for money in health care: The role of health technology assessment in the European Union, *European Observatory on Health systems Policies*, 11
- [92] MASON J, DRUMMOND M AND TORRANCE G (1993). Some guidelines on the use of cost effectiveness league tables. Bmj, 306, 6877, pg 570
- [93] TORRANCE GW, THOMAS WH AND SACKETT DL (1972) A utility maximization model for evaluation of health care programmes *Health Services research* 7, pg 118
- [94] EICHLER HG, KONG SX, GERTH WC, MAVROS P AND JONSSON B (2004) Use of Cost-Effectiveness Analysis in Health-Care Resource Allocation Decision-Making: How Are Cost-Effectiveness Thresholds Expected to Emerge?. Value in health, 7, 5, pg 518
- [95] FREDERICKSON HG AND MAGNAS H (1968) Comparing attitudes toward water pollution in Syracuse. Water Resources Research, 4, 5, pg 877

- [96] OLSEN JA AND DONALDSON C (1998) Helicopters, hearts and hips: using willingness to pay to set priorities for public sector health care programmes. Social Science & Medicine, 46, 1, pg 1
- [97] DAKIN HA, DEVLIN NJ ODEYEMI IAO (2006) "Yes", "no" or "yes, but"? Multinomial modelling of NICE decision-making. Health Policy 77, pg 352
- [98] DEVLIN N AND PARKIN D (2004) Does NICE have a costeffectiveness threshold and what other factors influence its decisions? A binary choice analysis. Health Econ. 13, 5, pg 453
- [99] RAWLINS MD AND CULYER AJ (2004) National Institute of Clinical Excellence and its value judgments. Br. Med. J. 329, pg 224
- [100] GAFNI A (2006) Economic evaluation of health-care programmes: is CEA better than CBA?. Environmental & Resource Economics, 34, 3, pg 407
- [101] GROSSE SD (2008) Assessing cost-effectiveness in healthcare: history of the \$50,000 per QALY threshold. Expert review of pharmacoeconomics & outcomes research, 8, 2, pg 165
- [102] TOWSE A (2009) Should NICE's threshold range for cost per QALY be raised? Yes. BMJ, 338, b181.
- [103] SCHLANDER M (2010) Measures of efficiency in healthcare: QALMs about QALYs? Z Evid. Fortbild. Qual. Gesundh. 104, 3, pg 209
- [104] NICE (2004) Citizens Council report: ultra orphan drugs, Available at: www.nice.org.uk/niceMedia/pdf/Citizens_Council_Ultraorph an.pdf
- [105] NICE (2008) Appraising orphan drugs, Available at www.nice.org.uk/niceMedia/pdf/smt/120705item4.pdf
- [106] DOLAN P, COOKSON R AND FERGUSON B (1999) Effect of discussion and deliberation on the public's views of priority setting in health care: focus group study. Brit. Med. J. 318, pg 916

- [107] GEORGE B, HARRIS A AND MITCHELL A (2001) Costeffectiveness analysis and the consistency of decision-making: evidences from pharmaceutical reimbursement in Australia (1991 to 1996) Pharmacoeconomics, 19, pg 1103
- [108] DRUMMOND MF, TORRANCE G AND MASON J (1993) Cost–effectiveness league tables: more harm than good? Soc. Sci. Med. 37, 1, pg 33
- [109] NAGEL T (1986) The View from Nowhere. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK
- [110] AHLERT M, BREYER F AND SCHWETTMANN L (2016) How you ask is what you get: Framing effects in willingnessto-pay for a QALY Social Science & Medicine, 150, pg 40
- [111] PETTITT DA, RAZA S, NAUGHTON B, ROSCOE A, RA-MAKRISHNAN A, ALI A, DAVIES B, DOPSON S, HOLLAN-DER G, SMITH JA AND BRINDLEY DA (2016)The Limitations of QALY: A Literature Review Journal of Stem Cell Research & Therapy
- [112] WEINSTEIN MC, TORRANCE G AND MCGUIRE A (2009) QALYs: the basics *Value in health*, *12*, s1, S5-S9.
- [113] VEGTER S, ROZENBAUM MH, POSTEMA R, TOLLEY K AND POSTMA MJ (2010) Review of regulatory recommendations for orphan drug submissions in the Netherlands and Scotland: focus on the underlying pharmacoeconomic evaluations *Clinical therapeutics*, 32, 9, pg 1651
- [114] JOHRI M AND NORHEIM OF (2012) Can cost-effectiveness analysis integrate concerns for equity? Systematic review International journal of technology assessment in health care, 28, 02, pg 125
- [115] AL-JANABI H, FLYNN TN AND COAST J (2012) Development of a self-report measure of capability wellbeing for adults: the ICECAP-A *Qual life Res* 21, 1, pg 167
- [116] COAST J, SMITH RD AND LORGELLY P (2008a) Welfarism, extra welfarism and Capability: the speed of ideas in health economics Soc Sci med, 67, 7, pg 1190

- [117] COAST J, SMITH RD AND LORGELLY P (2008b) Should the capability approach be applied in health economics? *Health econ* 17, 6, pg 667
- [118] COLQUHOUN D (1998) Binding, gating, affinity and efficacy: The interpretation of structure-activity relationships for agonists and of the effects of mutating receptors *British journal of pharmacology*, 125, 5, pg 923
- [119] THAUL S (2012) *How FDA approves drugs and regulates their safety and effectiveness.* Congressional Research Service.
- [120] CLAXTON K, MCCABE C AND TSUCHIYA A (2005) Orphan drugs and the NHS: Should we value rarity? *British Medical Journal*, 331, pg 1016
- [121] TROUILLER P, OLLIARO P, TORREELE E, ORBINSKI J, LAING R AND FORD N (2002) Drug development for neglected diseases: a deficient market and a public-health policy failure *The Lancet*, 359, 9324, pg 2188
- [122] SIMOENS S (2011) Pricing and reimbursement of orphan drugs: the need for more transparency *Orphanet journal of rare diseases*, *6*, 1, pg 1
- [123] NORD E, RICHARDSON J, STREET A, KUHSE H AND SINGER P (1995) Maximizing health benefits vs. egalitarianism: an Australian survey of health issues. Soc. Sci. Med. 41, pg 1429
- [124] BARRATT A (2008). Evidence based medicine and shared decision making: the challenge of getting both evidence and preferences into health care. Patient education and counseling, 73, 3, pg 407
- [125] MCCABE C, CLAXTON K AND TSUCHIYA A (2005) Orphan drugs and the NHS: should we value rarity? Br. Med. J. 331,pg 1016
- [126] DiMasi, J. A., Grabowski, H. G., & Hansen, R. W. (2016). Innovation in the pharmaceutical industry: new estimates of R&D costs. Journal of health economics, 47, 20-33.
- [127] SINGH S (20000) The code book: the secret history of codes and code-breaking. Fourth Estate

- [128] LAMPORT L, SHOSTAK R, PEASE M. THE BYZANTINE GEN-ERALS PROBLEM (1982) ACM Transactions on Programming Languages and Systems (TOPLAS) Jul 1;4(3):382-401.
- [129] BALIGA ARATI (2017) Understanding blockchain consensus models Available at: https://www.persistent.com/wpcontent/uploads/2017/04/WP-Understanding-Blockchain-Consensus-Models.pdf
- [130] NAKAMOTO S (2008) Bitcoin: A peer-to-peer electronic cash system Available at: https://bitcoin.org/bitcoin.pdf
- [131] ETHEREUM'S PROOF OF STAKE GITHUB PAGE Available at https://github.com/ethereum/wiki/Wiki/Proof-of-Stake-FAQ
- [132] SANG HUN LEE (1973). "Communism: A New Critique And Counterproposal". Freedom Leadership Foundation.
- [133] DUFFIELD E AND DIAZ D Dash, a privacy-centric crypto-currency Available at: https://github.com/dashpay/dash/wiki/Whitepaper
- [134] ROOTSTOCK WHITE PAPER (2015) Available at http://www.theblockchain.com/docs/Rootstock-WhitePaper-Overview.pdf
- [135] SCHUH F, LARIMER D Bitshares 2.0, Financial smart contracts platform, available at https://bravenewcoin.com/assets/Whitepapers/bitsharesfinancial-platform.pdf
- [136] BENTOV I, LEE C, MIZRAHI A AND ROZENFELD M Proof of Activity: Extending Bitcoins Proof of Work via Proof of Stake, Available at https://eprint.iacr.org/2014/452.pdf
- [137] NEM TECHNICAL REFERENCE Available at https://nem.io/
- [138] DORNER D, KREUSIG HW REITHER F AND STAUDEL T (1983). Lohhausen. Vom Umgang mit Komplexität [Lohhausen: On dealing with uncertainty and complexity]. Bern: Huber
- [139] FUNKE J (2012) Complex problem solving. In Encyclopedia of the sciences of learning (pg 682-685). Springer US.

- [140] MEYER B AND SCHOLL W (2009) Complex problem solving after unstructured discussion: Effects of information distribution and experience. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 12,4, 495-515.
- [141] FUNKE J (1991) Solving complex problems: Exploration and control of complex systems. Complex problem solving: Principles and mechanisms, pg 185
- [142] BELLMAN RE AND ZADEH LA (1970) Decision-making in a fuzzy environment. Management science, 17, 4, B-141.
- [143] ZIMMERMANN HJ AND ZYSNO P (1980) Latent connectives in human decision making. Fuzzy sets and systems, 4, 1, 37-51.
- [144] NARASIMHAN R (1980) Goal programming in a fuzzy environment. Decision sciences, 11, 2, pg 325
- [145] ZADEH LA (1976) A fuzzy-algorithmic approach to the definition of complex or imprecise concepts. International Journal of Man-machine studies, 8, 3, pg 249
- [146] ZADEH LA (1965) Fuzzy sets. Information and control, 8, 3, pg 338
- [147] HANNAN EL (1981) Linear programming with multiple fuzzy goals. Fuzzy sets and systems, 6, 3, 235-248.
- [148] RAWLS J (1971) A Theory of Justice Cambridge, Massachusetts: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press
- [149] VON NEUMANN J AND MORGENSTERN O (1953) Theory of Games and Economic Behavior, Princeton University Press, 1953; 3rd edition
- [150] HOLLIS A (2006) Drugs for rare diseases: paying for innovation. Health services restructuring in Canada: new evidence and new directions. *Edited by: Beach C. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press*
- [151] NASH J (1951) Non-cooperative games. Annals of mathematics, pg 286

- [152] MOREL T AND CANO SJ (2017) Measuring what matters to rare disease patients reflections on the work by the IRDiRC taskforce on patient-centered outcome measures. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. 12(171)
- [153] DOLAN P, SHAW R, TSUCHIYA A AND WILLIAMS A (2005) QALY maximisation and people's preferences: a methodological review of the literature. Health economics, 14, 2, 197-208.
- [154] SOARES MO (2012). Is the QALY blind, deaf and dumb to equity? NICE's considerations over equity. British medical bulletin, 101, 1, pg 17
- [155] NICE (2005) Citizen's Council Press release 26: NHS should consider paying premium prices for drugs to treat patients with very rare diseases, Available at www.nice.org.uk/pdf/2005_002_CitizensCouncilreport.pdf
- [156] SPENCE M AND ZECKHAUSER R (1971) Insurance, information, and individual action *The American economic review*, 61, 2, pg 380
- [157] STOKES III J (1983) Why not rate health and life insurance premiums by risks?. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 308, 7, pg 393
- [158] KIMBALL SL (1960) Purpose of Insurance Regulation: A Preliminary Inquiry in the Theory of Insurance Law, The *Minn. L. Rev.*, 45, pg 471
- [159] ROSENAU PV AND LAKO CJ (2008). An experiment with regulated competition and individual mandates for universal health care: the new Dutch health insurance system *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law, 33, 6, pg* 1031
- [160] WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. THE WORLD HEALTH RE-PORT (2008) primary health care (now more than ever). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008.
- [161] WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. WORLD HEALTH REPORT (2010) Health systems financing: the path to universal coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.

- [162] WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. WORLD HEALTH REPORT (2013) research for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- [163] JI JS AND CHEN L (2016). UHC presents universal challenges. Health Systems and Reform, 2(1), 11-14.
- [164] OECD (2008) Growing unequal? Income distribution and poverty in OECD countries. Paris, France.
- [165] WORLD BANK PRESS RELEASE (2015) World Bank Forecasts Global Poverty to Fall Below 10% for First Time; Major Hurdles Remain in Goal to End Poverty by 2030".
- [166] ADLER M Well-being and fair distribution: beyond cost-benefit analysis. Oxford University Press; 2012.
- [167] GERBER HU (1979). An Introduction to Mathematical Risk Theory. Huebner Foundation, Univ. of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia.
- [168] PAPATRIANDAFYLOU A AND WATERS HR (1984). Martingales in life insurance. Scand. Actuarial J. 1984, 210-230.
- [169] RAMLAU-HANSEN H (1988). Hattendorff's theorem: a Markov chain and counting process approach. Scand. Actuarial J. 1988, 143-156.
- [170] WOLTHUIS H (1987). Hattendorff's theorem for a continuoustime Markov model. Scand. Actuarial J. 1987, 157-175.
- [171] HATTENDORFF K (1868). Das Risiko bei der Lebensversicherung. Masius Rundschau der Versicherungen 18, 169-183.
- [172] R SOFTWARE Available at https://www.r-project.org/
- [173] TURING AM (1937)On computable numbers, with an application to the Entscheidungsproblem. Proceedings of the London mathematical society. ;2(1):230-65.
- [174] SOLIDITY LANGUAGE Available at https://github.com/ethereum/solidity

- [175] VISA TECHNICAL APPENDIX Cashless cities, Available at https://usa.visa.com/content/dam/VCOM/global/visaeverywhere/documents/visa-cashless-cities-technicalappendix.pdf
- [176] MILLER A AND LAVIOLA JJ Anonymous Byzantine Consensus from Moderately-Hard Puzzles: A Model for Bitcoin, Available at https://socrates1024.s3.amazonaws.com/consensus.pdf
- [177] FINK A, KOSECOFF J, CHASSIN M AND BROOK RH (1984). Consensus methods: characteristics and guidelines for use. American journal of public health, 74(9), 979-983.
- [178] LYONS AS AND PETRUCELLI RJ(1978) Medicine: an illustrated history.
- [179] CASTIGLIONI A (1941) A history of medicine. New York: AA Knopf
- [180] GARRISON FH (1921) An Introduction to the history of medicine c. 2. WB Saunders Company
- [181] MEDIPEDIA Available at https://fr.medipedia.be/
- [182] ORPHANET DATABASE Available at www.orpha.net
- [183] WHO DATABASE Available at www.who.int/nmh/databases/en/
- [184] MARTNEZ-PREZ B, DE LA TORRE-DEZ I, LPEZ-CORONADO M (2013) Mobile health applications for the most prevalent conditions by the World Health Organization: review and analysis. Journal of medical Internet research;15(6).
- [185] BELLINA L AND MISSONI E (2011) Mobile diagnosis: bridging sociocultural gaps and empowering women. Telemed and e-Health;17(9):750. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.9976.
- [186] BELLINA L, AZZOLINA G, NUCATOLA I, MAGGIO A, CON-SIGLIO F, INGRASSIA R, VITRANO F AND CARRABINO R (2014) M-phone impact on practical training: role of m-phone as part of the educative method for training local health workers of rural areas of developing countries. Health and Technology. 1;4(3):289-94.

- [187] TERRY M (2011) Medical connectivity telemicroscopes and point-of-care diagnostics team up with smartphones. Telemed and e-Health;17(5):3203.
- [188] GARBER PM (2001) Famous first bubbles: The fundamentals of early manias. mit Press
- [189] NEAL LD AND WEIDENMIER MD (2003) Crises in the global economy from tulips to today. In Globalization in historical perspective 2003 Jan 1 (pp. 473-514). University Of Chicago Press.
- [190] ODLYZKO A (2010) Collective hallucinations and inefficient markets: The British Railway Mania of the 1840s. University of Minnesota. 2010 Jan 15.
- [191] LJUNGQVIST A AND WILHELM WJ (2003) IPO pricing in the dotcom bubble. The Journal of Finance. Apr 1;58(2):723-52.
- [192] PANKO RR (2008) IT employment prospects: beyond the dotcom bubble. European Journal of Information Systems. 2008 Jun 1;17(3):182-97.
- [193] Keynes JM (1936) The General Theory of Employment, Interest, and Money (Harcourt, New York).
- [194] Bachelier, L. (1900) Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. III-17, 2186.
- [195] PIGOU AC (1917) The value of money *The Quarterly Journal* of *Economics*, pg 38
- [196] ECONOMIC DATA FROM ST. LOUIS, USA Available at https://fred.stlouisfed.org/graph/?s%5B1%5D%5Bid%5D=AMBNS
- [197] FISHER I(1930)The theory of interest.
- [198] FRIEDMAN M AND FRIEDMAN R (1990) Free to choose: A personal statement. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt; 1990 Nov 26.
- [199] PHILLIPS A (2004). Defending equality of outcome, Journal of Political Philosophy, (12)1, pg 1-19
- [200] CNET news: Ryan Gosling isn't a graphic designer for a cryptocurrency is he? Available at: https://www.cnet.com/news/ryan-gosling-cryptocurrency/

- [201] CNN news: ICO Exit Scams after Listing Ryan Gosling as Graphic Designer Available at: https://www.ccn.com/ico-exitscams-listing-ryan-gosling-graphic-designer/
- [202] THE INDEPENDENT NEWS: Rvan Gosling used face Available as of cryptocurrency scam at: https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/gadgets-andtech/news/ryan-gosling-cryptocurrency-scam-miroskii-kevinbelanger-stock-image-fake-profile-bitcoin-a8240386.html
- [203] KAAL WA (2018) Initial Coin Offerings: the Top 25 Jurisdictions and Their Comparative Regulatory Responses.
- [204] LOUGHBOROUGH UNIVERSITY WEBPA SCORING SOFT-WARE Available at: http://webpaproject.lboro.ac.uk/academicguidance/report-on-the-webpa-student-surveys/
- [205] DUTTA B, SEN A (2012) Nash implementation with partially honest individuals. Games and Economic Behavior. Jan 1;74(1):154-69.
- [206] COPE website: https://publicationethics.org/
- [207] LADER E, MARTIN N, COHEN G, MEYER M, REITER P, DI-MOVA A AND PARIKH D (2012) Warfarin therapeutic monitoring: is 70% time in the therapeutic range the best we can do?. Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics;37(4):375-7.
- [208] HIRSH J, DALEN JE, ANDERSON DR, POLLER L, BUSSEY H, ANSELL J AND DEYKIN D (2001) Oral anticoagulants: mechanism of action, clinical effectiveness, and optimal therapeutic range;119(1):8S-21S.
- [209] BOVENS M (2007). Analysing and assessing accountability: a conceptual framework1. European law journal, 13, 4, pg 447
- [210] SCHULTE-RUTHER M, MARKOWITSCH HJ, FINKGR AND PIEFKE (2007) Mirror neuron and theory of mind mechanisms involved in face-to-face interactions: a functional magnetic resonance imaging approach to empathy Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 19, 8, pg 1354-1372
- [211] PRESTON SD AND DE WAAL F (2002) Empathy: Its ultimate and proximate bases. Behavioral and brain sciences, 25, 01, pg 1-20

- [212] GAZZOLA V, AZAZ-ZADEH L AND KEYSERS C (2006) Empathy and the somatotopic auditory mirror system in humans *Current biology*, 16, 18, 1824-1829.
- [213] RIZZOLATTI G AND CRAIGHERO L (2004) The mirrorneuron system. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, 27, pg 169-192.
- [214] MONKMAN D (1998) Accountability for reasonableness. general practice, 316, pg 1430
- [215] RIZZOLATTI G AND FABBRI-DESTRO M (2010) Mirror neurons: from discovery to autism. Exp. Brain Res.200, 223– 23710
- [216] Baars BJ, Ramsoy TZ and Laureys S, (2003)Brain, conscious experience and the observing self *Trends in neurosciences*, 26, 12, pp.671-675.
- [217] AGNATI LF, GUIDOLIN D, BATTISTIN L, PAGNONI G AND FUXE K (2013) The Neurobiology of Imagination: Possible Role of Interaction-Dominant Dynamics and Default Mode Network. Frontiers in Psychology, 4, pg 296
- [218] HADORN DC (1991) Hadorn DC. Setting health priorities in Oregon. Cost-effectiveness meets the rule of rescue. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 265, pg 2218
- [219] JENNI KE AND LOEWENSTEIN G (1997) Explaining the 'identifiable victim effect'. J. Risk Uncertainty 14, 3, pg 235
- [220] MCKIE J AND RICHARDSON J (2003) The rule of rescue. Soc. Sci. Med. 56, 12, pg 2407
- [221] SHMUELI A (1999) Survival vs. quality of life: a study of the Israeli public priorities in medical care. Soc. Sci. Med. 49, pg 297
- [222] GIBBARD A (1979) Disparate goods and Rawls difference principle: A social choice theoretic treatment Theory and Decision 11, pg 267
- [223] CUBBON J (1991) The principle of QALY maximisation as the basis for allocating health care resources. Journal of medical ethics, 17, 4, pg 181
- [224] HARRIS J (1991) Unprincipled QALYs: a response to Cubbon. Journal of medical ethics, 17, 4, 185.
- [225] LILLY GC (1978) *An introduction to the law of evidence* (p. 41). West Publishing Company.
- [226] DENNIS IH (2007) *The law of evidence* (Vol. 604). London: Sweet & Maxwell.
- [227] CHARNY MC, LEXIS PA AND FARROW SC (1989) Choosing who shall not be treated in the NHS. Soc. Sci. Med. 28, 12, pg1331
- [228] OLSEN JA, RICHARDSONJ, DOLAN P AND MENZEL P (2003) The moral relevance of personal characteristics in setting health care priorities. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 57, 7, pg 1163
- [229] BUSSCHBACH JJV, HESSING DJ AND DE CHARRO FT (1993). The utility of health at different stages of life: a quantitative approach. Soc. Sci. Med. 37, 2, pg 153
- [230] CROPPER ML, AYDEDE SK AND PORTNEY PR (1994) Preferences for life saving programs: how the public discounts time and age. J. Risk Uncertainty 8, 3, pg 243
- [231] DIEDERICH A, WINKELHAGE J AND WIRSIK N (2011) Age as a criterion for setting priorities in health care? A survey of the German public view. PLoS ONE 6, 8, pg 1
- [232] JOHANNESSON M AND JOHANSSON PO (1997) (1997) Is the valuation of a QALY gained independent of age? Some empirical evidence. J. Health Econ. 16, 5, pg 589
- [233] NORD E, STREET A, RICHARDSON J, KUHSE H AND SINGER P (1996) The significance of age and duration of effect in social evaluation of health care. Health Care Anal. 4, 2, pg 103
- [234] RODRIGUEZ E AND PINTO JLP (2000) The social value of health programmes: is age a relevant factor? Health Econ. 9, 7, pg 611
- [235] TSICHYIA A (1999) Age-related preferences and age weighting health benefits. Soc. Sci. Med. 48, 2, pg 267

- [236] TSUCHYIA A (2001) The Value of Health at Different Ages. Discussion Paper No. 184, University of York, Centre for Health Economics, York, UK
- [237] TSUCHYIA A, DOLAN P AND SHAW R (2003) Measuring people's preferences regarding ageism in health: some methodological issues and some fresh evidence. Soc. Sci. Med. 57, 4, pg 687